

BGS Groundhog® Desktop Geoscientific Information System v1.8.0

External User Manual

Modelling Systems Internal Report OR/15/046



OR/15/046; Final 1.1

BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY

MODELLING Systems INTERNAL REPORT OR/15/046

BGS Groundhog® Desktop Geoscientific Information System v1.8.0 External User Manual

Ben Wood, Tanya Richmond, Jenny Richardson, John Howcroft

Keywords Groundhog, Groundhog Desktop.

BGS Groundhog® Desktop Geoscientific Information System External User Manual. British Geological Survey Internal Report, OR/15/046.

Copyright in materials derived from the British Geological Survey's work is owned by the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) and/or the authority that commissioned the work. You may not copy or adapt this publication without first obtaining permission. Contact the **BGS** Intellectual Property Rights Section, British Geological Survey, Keyworth, e-mail ipr@bgs.ac.uk. You may quote extracts of a reasonable length without prior permission, provided a full acknowledgement is given of the source of the extract.

© NERC 2015. All rights reserved

Keyworth, Nottingham British Geological Survey 2017

Fax 0115 936 3276

BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY

The full range of our publications is available from BGS shops at Nottingham, Edinburgh, London and Cardiff (Welsh publications only) see contact details below or shop online at www.geologyshop.com

The London Information Office also maintains a reference collection of BGS publications, including maps, for consultation.

We publish an annual catalogue of our maps and other publications; this catalogue is available online or from any of the BGS shops.

The British Geological Survey carries out the geological survey of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (the latter as an agency service for the government of Northern Ireland), and of the surrounding continental shelf, as well as basic research projects. It also undertakes programmes of technical aid in geology in developing countries.

The British Geological Survey is a component body of the Natural Environment Research Council.

British Geological Survey offices

BGS Central Enquiries Desk

Tel 0115 936 3143	
email enquiries@bgs.ac.uk	

Environmental Science Centre, Keyworth, Nottingham NG12 5GG

Tel 0115 936 3241	Fax 0115 936 3488
email sales@bgs.ac.uk	

Murchison House, West Mains Road, Edinburgh EH9 3LA

Tel 0131 667 1000 Fax 0131 668 2683 email scotsales@bgs.ac.uk

Natural History Museum, Cromwell Road, London SW7 5BD

020 7589 4090	Fax 020 7584 8270
020 7942 5344/45	email bgslondon@bgs.ac.uk

Columbus House, Greenmeadow Springs, Tongwynlais, Cardiff CF15 7NE т

Гel	029 2052 1962	Fax 029 2052 1963

Maclean Building, Crowmarsh Gifford, Wallingford **OX10 8BB** Tel 01491 838800

Fax 01491 692345

Geological Survey of Northern Ireland, Colby House, Stranmillis Court, Belfast BT9 5BF

Tel 028 9038 8462 Fax 028 9038 8461

www.bgs.ac.uk/gsni/

Parent Body

www.nerc.ac.uk

Tel Tel

Natural Environment Research Council, Polaris House, North Star Avenue, Swindon SN2 1EU Tel 01793 411500 Fax 01793 411501

Website www.bgs.ac.uk Shop online at www.geologyshop.com

Foreword

BGS Groundhog Desktop (Groundhog) is geological software developed by the British Geological Survey (BGS) for the display and editing of subsurface geological information.

The software is available under the UK's Open Government Licence.

Please note – Groundhog Desktop does **not** provide access to BGS/NERC data, it is software only.

Groundhog Desktop is intended as a basic GeoScientific Information System (GSIS*) – a software tool which facilitates the collation, display, filtering and editing of a range of data relevant to subsurface interpretation and modelling. It has been developed by the Modelling Systems software development team, with help and advice being provided by Holger Kessler, Steve Thorpe, Ian Cooke, Rachel Dearden, Steve Mathers and Ricky Terrington.

If you are new to Groundhog you may wish to jump right to the Quick Start Guide at Appendix A (at the end of this manual).

BGS offers training, custom software development, integration services and geological consultancy services in relation to the use of the Groundhog Desktop software. For all enquiries please contact <u>groundhog@bgs.ac.uk</u>

 British Geological Survey

 Tel 0115 936 3143
 Fax 0115 936 3276

Contents

Contents	;;
1 Overview	4
1.1 Quick Start Guide	4
1.2 BGS Groundhog Desktop GSIS	4
2 The User Interface	7
2.1 Toolbar	7
2.2 Menus	7
2.3 Toolbar Tabs	7
2.4 Workspace Panel	7
2.5 Map Panel	
2.6 Cross-Section Panel	
2.7 Workspaces and Projects	
3 Map Window	
3.1 Viewing Objects	
3.2 Zooming And Panning	
3.3 Cross-Sections	
3.4 Croplines	
3.5 Boreholes	
3.6 Faults(Fault Traces)	
3.7 Structural Measurements (Dip/Azimuth)	
3.8 Display Correlated Extents	
3.9 Showing/Hiding Map Window Objects	
3.10 Map Window Settings	
3.11 Accessing UK Topographic Basemaps	
3.12 Images In The Map	
4 Cross-Section Window	50
4.1 Zooming And Panning	
4.2 Vertical Exaggeration	
4.3 Undo/Redo	
4.4 Drawing Correlation Lines	
4.5 Editing Lines	
4.6 Snapping	
4.7 Joining Correlation Lines	
4.8 Deleting Lines	
4.9 Copying Lines	
4.10 Working With Terrain and Elevation Profiles	
4.11 Show/Hide Layers	
4.12 Drawing Sub-Divided Stratigraphy	

	4.13	Working With Faults In Section	.68
	4.14	Window Settings	.73
	4.15	Attaching An Image	.77
	4.16	Section Colouring Up – Troubleshooting Guide	.79
5	Log	Window and Borehole Editing Functions	.85
	5.1	Log Window Templates	. 85
	5.2	Viewing and Editing a Borehole Log	.99
	5.3	Filtering	106
	5.4	Other Borehole Functions	109
6	Cont	text Menus	113
	6.1	Cross Sections	113
	6.2	Croplines	114
	6.3	Faults (Mapped)	114
	6.4	Dictionaries	115
	6.5	Shapes	115
	6.6	Images	121
	6.7	Multiple Selection	127
7	Wor	kflows	128
	7.1	Fault Construction	128
8	Inter	roperability	136
	8.1	Importing Projects From GSI3D	136
	8.2	Import	136
	8.3	Export	144
9	APP	ENDIX A – Quick Start Guide	146
	9.1	Helpdesk	146
	9.2	Install & Use	146
	9.3	Maps	147
	9.4	Images	150
	9.5	Boreholes	156
	9.6	Grid Layers	162
	9.7	Display a Reference Surface Within A Cross-Section	165
	9.8	Draw	165
	9.9	Drawing Geological Lines	170
	9.10	Save project	172
10	Ap	pendix B – System Configuration	174
	10.1	Proxy Settings	174

1 Overview

BGS Groundhog Desktop (Groundhog) is geological software developed by the British Geological Survey (BGS) for the display and editing of subsurface geological information.

1.1 QUICK START GUIDE

If you want to get started right away, please refer to the Quick Start guide at Appendix A (at the end of this document).

1.2 BGS GROUNDHOG DESKTOP GSIS

BGS Groundhog Desktop GSIS (*Desktop GeoScientific Information System* - hereafter "Groundhog") is a graphical software tool developed by the Geo-Analytics and Modelling Directorate of the British Geological Survey for the display of geological and geo-spatial information such as interpreted (correlated) geological cross-sections, maps and boreholes.

The software is available under the UK's Open Government Licence;

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

This means the software is free to use, exploit and re-distribute for academic, personal, research or commercial purposes, subject to the terms of the UK's Open Government Licence. We also require that you acknowledge the software in the following way wherever you use it to create or deliver any product, data, information or report;

• BGS Groundhog[®] Desktop Copyright © BGS/NERC (year).

For full details of the licensing and terms and conditions please refer to the license files in the installation directory.

For any enquiries regarding Groundhog Desktop GSIS, please contact;

groundhog@bgs.ac.uk

1.2.1 Capabilities

Groundhog Desktop is intended as a basic GeoScientific Information System (GSIS*) – a software tool which facilitates the collation, display, filtering and editing of a range of data relevant to subsurface interpretation and modelling. You can use Groundhog to load and display certain types of borehole data, geological map linework, interpreted (correlated) crosssection and faults. It also supports reference data such as elevation models and images and has basic editing capabilities.



Typical view of Groundhog Desktop in use with map linework, cross-sections and boreholes loaded.

1.2.1.1 MAP CAPABILITIES

Groundhog can load and display geological map linework in terms of horizon BASE contacts ("croplines"). It can also present cross-section plan lines, fault trace linework, geo-registered map images and borehole positions.

To open a blank map window use **Session > Windows > New Map Window** then click on the zoom to full extent button.

1.2.1.2 CROSS-SECTION CAPABILITIES

Groundhog can load and display interpreted (correlated) cross-section linework (horizon bases and fault sticks) and also display raster (image) backdrops which can be scaled interactively for digitizing. Basic borehole logs can also be displayed for correlation.

Groundhog displays lines in cross-section by default. However, if correlation lines are correctly constructed by using line-to-line snapping (refer to cross-section reference later in this manual) then a coloured-up section can be constructed.



Section with lines



Section with lines snapped together forming coloured-up polygons.

1.2.2 System Requirements

- PC or laptop running Microsoft Windows OS,
- 2-button mouse with scrolling wheel.

1.2.3 **Download and Installation**

Groundhog can be downloaded from

http://www.bgs.ac.uk/research/environmentalModelling/groundhogDesktop.html

To install, double click the **setup.exe** and follow the instructions in the installation wizard. NOTE: you may need administrator privileges to install the software, in which case please consult your system administrator or helpdesk.

1.2.4 Support and Warranty

Groundhog Desktop is free-to-use software and comes with no support or warranty. Please refer to the licensing information within the installation folder for further details. We are happy to receive general enquiries regarding the software, but this does not constitute the offer of a helpdesk service.

groundhog@bgs.ac.uk

2 The User Interface

The user interface is divided into a series of panels. These panels can be undocked (split) if desired via *Session > Windows > Dock/Undock All Windows*.

🛃 Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace Example.gop		– ø ×
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help		
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE		
	TOOLBAR	
Start 🔨 Workspace 🎯 Codes		
Welcome		
Welcome to BGS Groundhog Desktop. Use the links below to help you get started.	MAP/LOG VIEW PANEL	
Loading Projects		
Load the sample project		
Load a project		
Viewing A Map		
Open a new blank map window		
Importing Data	AT	
Open the data import screen		
Entering Borehole Data		
Create a new borehole object		
Creating Cross-Sections	CROSS-SECTION PANEL	
Create a new cross-section object		
WORKSPACE		
PANEL		
FAILL		
p	Lead complete 100%	View Error Messages

2.1 TOOLBAR

The toolbar includes a conventional menu bar and a tabbed panel of buttons for loading, saving and manipulating data.

2.2 MENUS

- 1. Session various load/save options for assembling a workspace session,
- 2. *Interoperability* various options for import/export of non-GDE-format proprietary and standardized data formats,
- 3. Tools various useful data tools,
- 4. Geology tools to predict and deduce geological information from workspace data objects,
- 5. *Help* about Groundhog Desktop.

2.3 TOOLBAR TABS

- 1. Home workspace and data load/save buttons,
- 2. Settings capping layer and global property,
- 3. Draw editing and digitizing functions and settings,
- 4. *Calculate* prediction tools.

2.4 WORKSPACE PANEL

The workspace panel is a tabbed panel providing access to the data objects loaded into the workspace. It has the following tabs;

2.4.1 Workspace

This tab provides a categorized list of loaded data objects displayed in a hierarchical **workspace object tree** control. Depending on the category and the level of object in the object tree, various context-specific menus are available via right-click.



<u>Note that not all object types displayed in the tree are currently supported, and may vary across versions of the software.</u>

When you load a project its data objects will be added to this workspace object tree. To navigate the workspace object tree simply click on the + icons to expand each level of detail. Depending on the type of the object and the level of detail, various context-sensitive popup menus are available via *right-click*.

2.4.2 **Codes**

This tab provides a reference list of geological rock layer codes referred to as the **Coding Scheme**, including some special codes such as "FAULT". Picking a code from this list makes that code the active code for editing/digitizing. For details of how this list is created refer to the **Dictionaries** and **Coding Scheme** sections of this manual.

Start 🔨 Works	space 🕅 Codes				
Rock Codes					
Rock Code Lib	Rock Code Library				
Add Code	Add Colour Save Codes				
Search:	Recent All				
BC BC	DULDERS				
CH	HALK				
— a	AY				
500 CC	DBBLES				
GR GR	RAVEL				
	MESTONE				
М/ М/	ADE GROUND				
E ML	JDSTONE				
al. PE	AT				
×××× SA	AND				
SA SA	ANDSTONE				
🔀 SI	LT				

2.4.2.1 ADD CODE

Allows a new rock layer code to be added to the list, together with an optional description. The new code will be retained for the duration of the session – to save it permanently, click *Save Codes* (see below).

🕌 Add Rock	Layer Code	×
Co	de BRECCIA	
Descri	ption Brecciated layer	
Colour [R G B]	51 0 255	Choose
	Ok Cancel	

A corresponding colour can be chosen using the *Choose* button, as an alternative to typing in the RGB colour code. In addition to adding the code, this also adds a colour to the legend.

2.4.2.2 ADD COLOUR

If only a new colour is needed, this option can be used. The new colour will be retained for the duration of the session – to save it permanently, click *Save Colours* (see below).

🛃 Add Named Colour	—
Code HIGH]
Colour [R G B] 255 0 0	Choose
Ok Cancel	

2.4.2.3 SAVE CODES

The *Save Codes* button displays red text to indicate new code(s) have been added to the session, but not saved. Click *Save Codes* to save the new codes into the workspace permanently.

Start 🔨 W	/orkspace 🔯 Codes	
Rock Codes		
Rock Code	Library	
Add Co	ode Add Colour Save Codes Save Colo	urs
Search:	Recent All	
n	BOULDERS	^
	CHALK	
	CLAY	
900 000	COBBLES	
<u>.</u>	GRAVEL	
	LIMESTONE	
\mathbf{X}	MADE GROUND	
	MUDSTONE	
- ad	PEAT	
×××××	SAND	~

Clicking this button saves all the codes loaded into the workspace back to the file from which they were loaded. An information box confirms that this has taken place:

Rock Co	odes Saved
1	The rock codes were saved to the workspace coding scheme file.
	E:\Eclipse Workspace\ModRocks\sample data\TRAINING_WORKSPACE\CODING_SCHEME.godic
	ОК

The text on the Save Codes button now changes back to black.

2.4.2.4 SAVE COLOURS

The *Save Colours* button displays red text to indicate new colour(s) have been added to the session, but not saved. Click *Save Colours* to save the new colours into the workspace permanently.

2.4.2.5 Ornaments

Ornaments are just images which are used as fills in combination with the legend colours. Ornament fills are used in borehole logs and cross-sections, for example. Here is a typical ornament for SAND, in combination with a pale yellow legend colour, as seen in a borehole log template.



An ornament is applied by loading a GIF, JPG/JPEG or PNG image file, which is named *identically* to the code name to which it applies, for example SAND.gif will be matched to the layer code SAND (names are not case-sensitive). GIF images with transparent backgrounds are optimal for ornaments because these allow a separate legend colour to show through in combination with the image. Groundhog ships with a basic set of ornaments for simple lithologies. Note that ornaments do not have to relate to lithologies, they can be used to represent any value from any field, as with the legend colours. The only restriction at the current version of Groundhog is that all ornament names must be unique.

Ornament files are loaded when Groundhog starts from three separate folders in sequence, as follows:

- 1. {Project folder}\ORNAMENTS\ ornaments are taken by preference from this folder
- 2. {Workspace folder}\ORNAMENTS\ this is the 2nd folder which Groundhog wil search for ornaments
- 3. {Install folder}\ORNAMENTS\ this is the final area from which ornaments are loaded

For example, if an ornament file named SAND.gif is placed in all three folders, the one in the project folder will be used preferentially.

In addition, further ornaments can be imported during the session using the *Interoperability* - > *Import* - > *Images* – *Ornaments Folder* function. See the relevant section of the manual for a description of this.

2.5 MAP PANEL

The map panel is a container for any map windows you create. The map windows behave a little like tabbed windows in a web-browser. You can create as many map windows as you wish. For further details on map windows refer to the Map Window section of the manual.

To open a blank map window use **Session > Windows > New Map Window** then click on the zoom to full extent button.

2.6 CROSS-SECTION PANEL

The cross-section panel is a container for any cross-section windows you create. The crosssection windows behave a little like tabbed windows in a web-browser. You can create as many cross-section windows as you wish. For further details on cross-section windows refer to the Cross-Section Window section of this manual.

2.7 WORKSPACES AND PROJECTS

All data in Groundhog Desktop are held either in a **Workspace** or a **Project**. A **Workspace** is a high-level set of static reference data that may be common to many projects (e.g. DEM, national rock coding scheme). A **Project** is a set of individual data files that are actively being worked on (e.g. cross-sections, maps, boreholes).

2.7.1 Supported Data Types

Groundhog currently supports (to varying degrees);

- Dictionaries
- Colour legends
- Elevation grids (rasters)
- Unstructured meshes (TINs)
- Boreholes
- Interpreted cross-sections (correlation linework and fault sticks)
- Map linework ("croplines")
- Fault traces
- Geological sequence tables
- Images (including geo-registered images in map and section)
- Web Map Services (WMS)
- Shapes

For more details on each, refer to the relevant sections below.

For most of the above, Groundhog has its own XML-based data file format referred to as Geological Object Markup Language (*.goml). Generally it is not advisable to edit these data files manually – they are designed for data transfer and local project storage. **XML schemas** for some of the key objects are available on request via groundhog@bgs.ac.uk

2.7.2 Workspaces

Groundhog workspaces are folders containing related collections of commonly used reference data. A single workspace may support several Groundhog projects by containing all of the common reference data for those projects, such as a national or regional rock coding scheme and a digital terrain model.

The default workspace is held in a folder called **WORKSPACE_DEFAULT** within the installation directory. Any reference data files included in this folder will be added to the default workspace. You can create your own workspaces by compiling the desired files in a folder of your choice and selecting this folder when Groundhog starts up by using the "+" button in the workspace selection dialog. The pull-down list contains a list of all previously loaded workspaces to choose from.

Select A Groundhog Workspace
Groundhog stores your global session resources in a folder called a Workspace.
Just use DEFAULT, or pick a custom workspace, and click OK to proceed.
*** YOUR CURRENT DEFAULT FOLDER IS E:\WORKSPACE_DEFAULT_EXTERNAL ***
Advanced users: Click New to create a new (custom) Workspace.
For more details, please refer to the User Manual.
Workspace
DEFAULT
OK Delete 다 New

Typical data resources include;

- Dictionaries usually at least a rock coding scheme,
- A colour legend file,
- Grids e.g. a digital terrain model.

Workspace data resources can be included in two ways;

- 1. By physically placing the data file within the workspace folder,
- 2. By adding a file path to the data file into the **RESOURCES.txt** file.

The **RESOURCES.txt** file is a tab-separated file held within the workspace folder and comprising one data resource linkage per-line;

DATA TYPE	NAME	PATH/URL	EXTRA INFO
GRID	Terrain Model	C:\Data\terrain.asc	MODEL_CAP
DICTIONARY	London Formation Codes	C:\Data\LondonCodes.godic	
WMS	UK Geology Web Map Service	http://etc	

Note: RESOURCES.txt contains no headers. They are included above for clarity.

For GRID type objects, the extra info of "MODEL_CAP" sets that grid as the reference terrain model for the workspace. This can be changed interactively within the user interface if necessary.

2.7.2.1 Special Files

These must, if used, be held within the workspace folder and be named exactly as shown here.

LOCAL_GRID.txt - defines the gridding system used for the project i.e. the names of the highest level grid squares and their co-ordinates.

<u></u> L	OCAL_GRID.	txt - N	otepad		These because	
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit F <u>o</u> rn	nat <u>V</u>	iew <u>H</u> elp			
SV	0		0	100000	100000	
SW	100	0000	0	200000	100000	
SX		0000	0	300000	100000	
SY		0000	0	400000	100000	E
SZ		0000	0	500000	100000	
TV		0000	0	600000	100000	
SR		0000	100000	200000	200000	
55		0000	100000	300000	200000	
ST		0000	100000	400000	200000	
SU		0000	100000	500000	200000	
TQ		0000	100000	600000	200000	
TR		0000	100000	700000	200000	
SM		0000	200000	200000	300000	
SN		0000	200000	300000	300000	
SO		0000	200000 200000	400000 500000	300000	
SP TL		0000 1000	200000	600000	300000 300000	
TM		0000	200000	700000	300000	
114	000	000	200000	/00000	500000	*
•						E. ₹

BOUNDARY.shapes.goml – contains a list of co-ordinates that define the boundary area for the project, e.g. an outline map of a country, region, state or site. This file is read as Groundhog starts up and is then used as the workspace "boundary" object. Groundhog's DEFAULT workspace has a basic UK coastline as it's boundary shape. The workspace boundary can be switched on and off within each map window using the "boundary" checkbox.

1 ×			
	s 🖌	🚰 + Create Cross-Section	📝 Boundary

The format of the boundary file is the standard Groundhog shape format and comprises one or more <shape> elements, each with a series of coordinates forming a polygon. Note that the first and last coordinate of each polygon shape must match to close the polygon.

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8" standalone="no"?>
<GeologicalObjects objecttype="SHAPE">
<Shape name="My Workspace Boundary Shape">
<Coordinates>
<coordinate x="300000" y="200000"/>
<coordinate x="301256.9" y="202365.5"/>
... more coordinates as required
<coordinate x="300000" y="200000"/>
</Coordinates>
</Shape>
</GeologicalObjects>
```

Note that shapes can be imported from shapefiles (*.shp). Please refer to the shapefile import section of this manual for more details.

Shapes within the workspace can be interactively selected as the workspace boundary from the map window via right-click > Set As Workspace Boundary.



2.7.2.2 DICTIONARIES

A dictionary is simply a list of names with corresponding definitions (values). They are commonly used by Groundhog to look up descriptions of abbreviated or coded values, for example;

SSG	Sherwood Sandstone Group

Cu	Copper	
----	--------	--

Dictionaries are held in XML format with a file extension of *.godic (Geological Object DICtionary). The format is as follows;

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8" standalone="no"?>
<GeologicalObjects>
<dictionary name="Rock Codes" description="A list of rock codes">
<dictionary_entry name="SST" value="Sandstone" />
<dictionary_entry name="MDST" value="Mudstone" />
<dictionary_entry name="LMST" value="Limestone" />
</dictionary>
```

</GeologicalObjects>

Groundhog needs at least one dictionary which is referred to as the rock layer **coding scheme** (see next section).

Dictionaries can also be imported from a tab-separated text file where the first two columns of the file are the NAME and the VALUE. Further columns will simply be ignored.

2.7.2.3 CODING SCHEME

The coding scheme is a list of rock layer codes from which you can select for editing and digitizing. They are held as a **Dictionary** object. Groundhog ships with a pre-defined coding scheme based on the BGS Lexicon of Named Rock Units (http://www.bgs.ac.uk/lexicon/), but you can import your own codes from a tab-delimited text file (see *Dictionaries*), or create your own coding scheme dictionary file in the workspace (WORKSPACE_DEFAULT\CODING_SCHEME.godic).

2.7.2.4 COLOUR LEGEND FILE

Colours are held in a tab-separated text file called LEGEND.txt in the workspace folder (WORKSPACE_DEFAULT\LEGEND.txt). You can add colours to the Groundhog workspace by adding to this file, or create your own file. The format is;

CODE	RED	GREEN	BLUE	ORNAMENT IMAGE
AAFS-AFSY	255	147	51	texture_library/a.jpg
ABBR-BREC	255	117	84	texture_library/b.png
ABBR-BRSS	255	117	84	C:\image.jpeg

Colours are defined in the RGB colour model <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/RGB_color_model</u> where values for each colour are between 0 and 255.

Both Coding and Colour Legend files can now be updated interactively from within Groundhog. See the *Workspace Panel* section above for details on how to do this.

2.7.2.5 Elevation Grids

Groundhog supports regular grids for elevation models, for example a Digital Terrain Model. At least one grid to define the "model cap" (normally a terrain model) is required as this will be used to auto-generate profiles for the cross-section windows.

Groundhog has its own binary format for grid data which enables it to maintain a permanent reference to a master terrain model and query the necessary elevations and profile as required – for example when a new cross-section is created or loaded. This format is a binary version of an ESRI-style ASCII grid file (<u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Esri_grid</u>) and is very efficient because you can have a regional or national DTM coverage registered with Groundhog without any computer memory issues. Groundhog will automatically query this data layer as necessary.

Loading Grid Data

ASCII grids (*.asc) can be imported via *Interoperability* > *Import* menu and will be automatically converted to the Groundhog binary format in the background. The object will be added to *Reference Objects* > *Grid Coverages* in the object tree. ASCII grids must have a header laid out in the following format;

ncols 2000

```
nrows 2500
xllcorner 100000
yllcorner 120000
cellsize 25
NO_DATA_VALUE -9999
154.6 157.2 159.8 161.4 162.7 164.3 165.4.....[DATA...etc]
```

Groundhog will attempt to save a binary copy of the imported grid in the same folder as the ASCII file. If this is not possible (e.g. because the ASCII is in a read-only folder), Groundhog will instead save the binary file into the current workspace folder. If the grid is large the conversion process may take a few moments.

To add a new binary grid to your workspace so that they are always available make sure to add a reference to it into the RESOURCES.txt file, otherwise you will need to re-load the grid each session. Use one line pre-grid entry. If you wish to set the grid as the default capping grid, append the term "MODEL_CAP" to the end of the row. Note that the values in the row are tabseparated. E.g.;

```
GRID A Grid C:\Data\Grid_1.obgrid MODEL_CAP
GRID Another Grid C:\Data\Grid_2.asc
```

If you add an ASCII grid to the RESOURCE.txt file it will be automatically converted to binary. The next time the workspace is loaded Groundhog will automatically find the corresponding binary grid file for the ASCII listing, so there is no need to update the RESOURCE.txt file after the conversion process.

2.7.2.6 IMAGES

Groundhog supports JPEG and PNG format image files which can be loaded via *Session* > *Load Reference Objects* > *Image*. If the image has a world file it will be automatically detected and the image can then be displayed in a map window in the correct geographic location (georegistered). Note that Groundhog does not support rotated images.

Loaded images can be geo-registered using the map window. This creates an ESRI format world file, which is compatible with other GIS applications. Refer to the Map Window section of this manual for further details.

Loaded images can also be registered into a cross-section window interactively. This is particularly useful when digitizing. Refer to the **Cross-Section Window** section of this manual for further details.

2.7.2.7 Web Map Services

Groundhog is a rudimentary WMS client, allowing certain BGS-published WMS services to be displayed in the map window(s). The URL to the WMS should be included in the workspace RESOURCES.txt file, e.g.;

WMS BGS_Detailed_Geology https://map.bgs.ac.uk/arcgis/services/BGS_Detailed_Geology/MapServer/WMSServer

Loaded WMS services will be added to the Reference Objects > Web Map Services folder in the workspace object tree. The default workspace of Groundhog comes with a link to the BGS digital geological map as a WMS so this should automatically appear in the tree.

To display the WMS in the map window, *right-click (on the WMS layer of interest) > View WMS Layer In Map*.



Note that Groundhog has no capability for Latitude/Longitude, so can only support WMS services which can respond to requests in a cartesian grid coordinate system (e.g. British National Grid).

2.7.3 **Projects**

Projects are what you normally work with day-to-day to load and save the data you are working on. Project data is held in XML data files. For this, Groundhog has its own XML-based data file format referred to as Geological Object Markup Language (*.goml). Generally it is not advisable to edit these data files manually – they are designed for data transfer and local project storage.

Each GOML file contains objects of a single type, for example boreholes or cross-sections. When data is saved out as a Groundhog project a **Geological Object Project file** (*.GOP) and a series of **GOML** files is created, one per object type;

- Project1.gop
- Project1.cross-sections.goml
- Project1.boreholes.goml
- Project1.faults.goml
- Project1.croplines.goml

Note the naming convention. The first part of the file name is the name of the project, and the second part (shown in bold above) is the data type. Never re-name files manually because Groundhog relies on this naming convention to find all linked data files.

To load a project, simply pick the .gop file via *Session* > *Load Project* or click on the load button in the toolbar data tab.



All GOML files associated with the project will be automatically loaded. To load GOML data files individually use *Session > Load Geological Objects > From GO File menu*. Data in other formats can often be imported and exported via the *Interoperability* menu (see the **Interoperability** section of this manual for further detail). Certain reference data can be loaded via *Session > Load Reference Objects*.

To save a project use *Session > Save Project* or click on the save button in the toolbar data tab.



When saving a project, if you retain the existing project file name when you press save the previous versions of the data files will be over-written.

You are strongly advised to save your work regularly. Do not wait until the end of the day to save all of your work. You are also strongly advised to increment the project name from time-to-time to ensure you have a series of project backups should the saved-out data become corrupted, e.g.

- Project1_v1.gop
- Project1_v2.gop
- ...
- Project1_v**n**.gop

Project data files are generally quite small, so keeping a series of backups should not present any data volume issues and superfluous backups can be deleted manually if desired.

3 Map Window

Map windows can be created either by sending existing loaded objects to them or by creating a new blank window.

To open a blank map window use **Session > Windows > New Map Window** then click on the zoom to full extent button.

At the current time there is no undo/redo capability on map objects – this function is still in development.

3.1 VIEWING OBJECTS

Many objects in the object tree can be viewed in map windows via **right click** > **View** [object(s)] in **Map Window**. This opens a sub-menu where you can either create a new map window or select an existing map window.

3.2 ZOOMING AND PANNING

Panning in the map window is achieved by holding down the left mouse button and dragging in the relevant direction.

Zooming in and out can be done by either:

- (1) Using the mouse wheel, or
- (2) Using the $\textcircled{\bullet}$ and \boxdot buttons on the toolbar to incrementally zoom in or out.

To zoom to the full extent of the window use the button \square

When you zoom in and out using the mouse wheel the reference point for the zoom will refocus on the mouse cursor position, making it very easy to zoom in to an exact point of interest very quickly.

3.3 CROSS-SECTIONS

Cross-sections can be viewed as a line-of-section in the map window. Hold down the SHIFT key and hover over the line to peek into the geology of the cross-section at that position – the data will be presented as a log image.

3.3.1 **Opening In Cross-Section Window**

To view a cross-section in the section window from the map window, right-click on the displayed cross-section in the map window and select **View Cross-section**:



The selected cross-section will then be displayed within a new cross-section window.

3.3.2 Drawing A New Cross-Section

To draw a new cross-section:

- (1) Select the **Create New Cross-Section** button **F** from the map window toolbar.
- (2) Specify a name for the new cross-section.

Name Section 1 OK Cancel	

A message will appear explaining how to being construction.

Create N	lew Cross-Section
()	Single-click in map to add desired points to the line of section.
	Hold CTRL when clicking to display a coordinate editing dialog.
	Single-click on a borehole position to add it to the line of section
	Click 'Finish Cross-Section' in the toolbar to finish.
	ОК

(3) In the map window the mouse cursor changes to + to signify construction mode. Start to draw the new cross-section using single mouse clicks within the map window to create the nodes of the line-of-section. If you have boreholes displayed in the map window these will be previewed if you hover over them – if

you then click directly on the borehole position it will be added to the cross-section as a borehole object. If you want to add a point at or very close to a borehole but you don't want to add the borehole itself to the cross-section, hold the CTRL key to add the position as a plain coordinate. If you click a position that is not a borehole position it will be added as a plain coordinate. If you wish to edit the coordinate X and Y values, hold down the CTRL key before clicking – this will display an edit dialog.

B	Add Coordinate
x:	590,722.368 -
Y:	274,011.394
	OK Cancel

(4) To finish drawing the cross-section, once the final desired point of the line-of-section has been placed,

select the **Finish Cross-Section** button from the map window toolbar.

3.3.3 Editing An Existing Cross-Section In The Map

You can edit the alignment of an existing cross-section, either by extending at either end, or by inserting new positions into the middle of the cross-section.

IMPORTANT: Although it is technically possible to extend a section at either end once you have already started to work on it, it is strongly advised that all map cross-section alignment work is completed *before* drawing any correlation linework into the section plane itself to avoid any unexpected changes to your linework that could be caused by changing the alignment.

To extend the cross-section in either direction, *right-click* near to the end that you wish to extend from, and choose *Extend Cross-Section*. Next, single-click in the map at the location you wish to extend the cross-section to.

To insert a new position in the middle of the cross-section, *right-click* anywhere along the cross-section and select *Insert New Position Into Cross-Section*. Next, single-click in the map at the location you wish to be added to the alignment. Note that this option is only available if the cross-section has not been correlated – if correlation linework already exists, the option will be greyed-out.

3.4 CROPLINES

Croplines are effectively the geological map. Lines should always represent the **BASE** contact of the geological layer. Croplines can be at surface (outcrop) and/or sub-surface (subcrop), therefore the complete set of croplines for a given geological area will be a full sub-surface map of the BASE contacts of all of the geological horizons.

Croplines only represent true contacts – they should not be used to draw project boundaries to constrain horizon coverages.

Croplines are, by default, the representation of the BASE contact of the unit against the ground surface in the case of outcrop linework or against the base of an overlying horizon in the case of subcrop. However, in faulted geology a cropline may represent a contact of the BASE of the horizon with the fault plane. For further detail refer to the **Workflows > Fault Construction** section of the manual.

3.4.1 Drawing A New Cropline

To draw a new cropline:

(1) First select the desired rock layer code from the Rock Code Library. This will set the code as the currently active drawing code in the session. To do this, select the **Codes** tab from the left hand object reference window taskbar and scroll or search for the geological code:



Or, select the Recent button to display a list of recently used codes to select from.

If your desired code does not exist, click on **Add Code** and enter the rock code name manually.

Alternatively, select the **DRAW** tab from the main taskbar to display the drawing 'ribbon' and select a rock code from the **Recent Codes** area:

🛃 Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace		
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help		
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE		
Pen Tool Node Density	Vertex Edit Smoothing	Recent Codes
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10		

Once selected the active rock code will be displayed in the map window toolbar as a label and a coloured box:



Another way to set the active rock code is to pick the code up from an existing piece of linework. To do this, hold down CTRL and move the mouse across the line – the rock code will be picked up and set as the active code.

(2) To start drawing a new cropline, select one of the two drawing tools in the map window toolbar:



The left hand **pen tool** allows you to draw a new line by holding down the left mouse button and dragging the pen across the map window to trace the new cropline until the mouse button is released. Nodes are added automatically, the density of which can be adjusted in the DRAW ribbon by using the slider marked '**Pen tool node density'**. The line can subsequently be smoothed once drawn using the '**Vertex Edit Smoothing'** slider in the DRAW ribbon and moving the nodes around.

The right hand **digitizing tool** allows you to draw the line one node at a time, giving greater control over node positioning along the line. Use where positioning of nodes is more critical. Single-click to add nodes to the line and double-click to finish the line. Again, smoothing is possible by later editing.

(3) Once finished drawing, click the selected pen tool again to turn drawing mode off, or leave the pen active to continue to draw another cropline.

3.4.2 Editing A Cropline

To edit a cropline you must first make the line active by clicking on it with the left mouse button. The nodes are then displayed as shown below (cyan colour). Nodes can then be moved individual as appropriate or with the option to smooth the line to different levels using the slider 'Vertex Edit Smoothing' in the DRAW ribbon. The smoothing has the effect of causing nodes adjacent to the one being dragged to also follow the direction of the mouse cursor.



New nodes can be added by double clicking at the appropriate position along the active line.

Double clicking on an individual node in an active line will remove the node from the line.

To delete a whole line, right mouse click on the line and select **Delete Line**. A dialogue will appear asking for confirmation. Select yes to delete the line.

3.4.2.1 Splitting A Cropline

To split a cropline at a particular position, right mouse click on the line at the appropriate point where you wish to split the line and select **Split Line**. This will break the original cropline at the point of the right mouse click creating two separate lines.



3.4.2.2 CUTTING CROPLINES

To cut a cropline or a set of croplines, first draw a shape. This can be either a line or a polygon and is drawn by setting the current code to Shape and selecting a pen tool:



After drawing the shape across the croplines to be split, right click on the shape and select *Use Shape As Cutting Path*:



A dialogue box asks which lines are to be cut:



If the shape that has been drawn is a polygon, a further dialogue box asks:

Discard L	ines Outside Path? X
?	Would you like to discard any lines that sit outside this path?
	Yes <u>N</u> o

All croplines and or cross sections which are intersected by the shape are now cut into two lines. If the option to discard lines has been chosen, these segments of the lines are removed from the workspace.

This is most useful when you need to cut several croplines along the same cut path, for example to introduce a fault trace.

3.4.3 Joining Croplines

Two Croplines can be joined by dragging the end of one of the lines towards the end of the other line. When the two ends are brought close together the two lines will be joined. It is important to understand the way in which Cropline joins behave, depending on the properties of the line objects.

In general, the line you are editing (active line) will be merged into the line you connect it to. The merge process will attempt to preserve as much attribution as possible, but the attribution on the line you connect to will sometimes be given priority, for example if you join two lines with conflicting presence side attribution, the merged version of the line will adopt the side attribution from the line you connect the active line to.



Joining lines with differing fault crop attribution – lines are snapped

If only one of the lines has side attribution, then the merged line will adopt that side value, regardless of whether the attribute is on the active line, or the line being connected to.

If both of the lines have a fault crop attribute, the merged line will also be flagged as a fault crop.

If only one of the lines has a fault crop attribute the lines will only be JOINED – they will not be merged into a single line, and will remain as two separate line objects snapped together. This is to allow the distinction between the two types of crop.

3.4.4 Seeding Layer Presence Side On Croplines

A basic cropline defines the base contact of a geological layer on the map, but it does not specify on which side of the line is the "presence" of that layer (i.e. to the left or right of the line). Because Groundhog deals with true contact lines rather than coverage polygons (a.k.a envelopes), the presence is attached via a SIDE attribute. The value of this SIDE attribute is either LEFT or RIGHT (or null if the side is not known). There are two ways to attach the SIDE

attribute to the linework, interactively or automatically. The SIDE attribution is preserved in the project data files when the project is saved.

3.4.4.1 ATTACHING A SIDE ATTRIBUTE INTERACTIVELY

The SIDE attribute can be placed interactively in the map window by first making the line active, then picking the side tool and clicking on the map to the desired side of the line. Note that the side attribution tool is only active when a Cropline object is selected. Small side ticks appears graphically to show which side the attribute has been placed.



3.4.4.2 Attaching A Side Attribute Automatically

If you have correlated cross-sections in the workspace you can automate the side seeding process – Groundhog will attempt to use the correlation lines from the cross-sections to detect which side of the croplines are the presence of each layer. If the correlation linework agrees

with the croplines (i.e. is snapped to or very close to the cropline positions) then the side attribute will be attached to the linework.

Either choose *Geology > Predict Cropline Presence Side* from the main menu, or click on the *Predict Sides* button in the calculate tab in the main toolbar ribbon.



A dialog appears. If you choose "Overwrite all information" the automated process will overwrite any pre-existing SIDE attribution on the croplines, if you choose "Retain any existing information" the automated process will only attempt to attach SIDE attribution to cropline that do not currently have a value for that attribute.





Any linework that is not attributed as part of this process suggests either a lack of correlation of that horizon in any cross-section passing through that line, or rough correlation that is not close enough to the cropline position in the sections to be detected – snapping of linework within cross-section would resolve this. Otherwise, simply place the SIDE attribute manually as described earlier.

3.5 BOREHOLES

3.5.1 Entering Borehole Data Interactively

You can create individual boreholes and borehole logs interactively. First arrange a map window to show the area where you wish to place the borehole, then right-click either exactly where you want to place the borehole, or in a suitable blank area of the map if you wish to type the coordinates in. Select *Create Borehole* from the popup menu.

Create E	Boreho	le

A coordinate position entry dialog will appear pre-populated with the map coordinates of the mouse click. Edit the coordinates as desired and click OK.

Ø	Borehole Coordinate
X:	441,698.197
Y:	335,723.637
	OK Cancel

A borehole data entry dialog will appear. Here you can type a name for the borehole and set an identifier if you have one. The X, Y co-ordinates can be adjusted. You can also enter a collar
height, or click on *Set from Model Cap* to extract a value from the current terrain elevation grid. Click *OK*.

Borehole Colla		X
Name	Home Farm Well	
ID	123-A	
x	488575.892	
Y	324361.705	
Start	68.96	<<< Set from Model Cap
	OK Cancel	

The borehole will be added to the map window, and will also be added to the default borehole dataset folder in the object tree. If the borehole is the only object in the map window, you may need to zoom to full extent to see it.

To edit the above collar information at any time, or to edit the collar information for an existing loaded borehole, simply right-click on it either in the map or in the entry in the object tree and select *Edit Borehole*.



Next you can attach a log to the borehole position. Right-click on the borehole in the map or in the object tree and select *Create New Log*.



A dialog box requests a name for the new log.



A dummy log is created coded as 1m of "SAND". For details of how to edit logs refer to the **Log View** chapter of this document.

3.5.2 Importing Boreholes Into The Map

Refer to the Interoperability, Import section of the manual for details on loading borehole data from a spreadsheet. Once the borehole data has been loaded, it can be found under *Geological Objects* > *Boreholes*.

To display in the map window, expand the borehole tab in the data tree and right mouse click on the borehole dataset to select View all boreholes in map window...

Groundhog Desktop GSS Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help	in the second	
DATA DRAW CALCULATE OFECK		
Baid Earth 🔹		
\$ Map1 × ⊠ ⊕ ⊖ ↔ ■ ► ► ▲	g .	
	*	* + * * *
5	**	++ ++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
*+	+	¥ † +
* * **		++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
÷	* * .	+
+	+*	

If borehole interpretations are attached to a borehole, it is also possible to display a quick view of the attached interpretation(s) within the map window by holding down the **SHIFT** key and hovering over the borehole:



When you save the session to a project file the borehole data will be included.

3.6 FAULTS(FAULT TRACES)

To draw a new fault line:

(1) First select the **Codes** tab from the left hand object reference window taskbar and select Fault from the Lines area at the bottom of the window:

	hog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace Example.g
Session Int	eroperability Tools Geology Help
HOME S	ETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE
Þ	
	u Long @@ Codes
Rock Codes	Workspace 🛍 Codes
	, de Library
Add (
Search:	Recent All
2	BOULDERS
	CHALK
	CLAY
000	COBBLES
	GRAVEL
	LIMESTONE
	MADE GROUND
	MUDSTONE
- Ali	PEAT
× × × ×	SAND
	SANDSTONE
\mathbf{X}	SILT
Lines	
Fault	
Profile	
Shape	

This will then be displayed in the map window toolbar:

\$	Map1 ×			
·		● Fault	_ 🌗 🔊 🗸	⊀ 🛃

(2) To start drawing a new fault line, select one of the two pen tools in the map window toolbar:



Drawing and editing is then the same as for Croplines – please refer to the earlier section on Croplines for further detail on basic linework editing techniques.

3.6.1 Naming Faults

You can specify the name of a fault via *right-click* > *Re-Name Fault* on the fault object in the object tree.

.	— ,	ота циниче:ај .0 to 1.0m [LITHOLOO	GY = S/	AND]
Ŧ	FAULT TRACE			
	Unconformit	Tools	>	Re-Name Fault Trace
	Fold Aves	View Fault In Map	>	Flag As 'In Subsurface'
		Delete From Session	n	× X: 608248.01 Y
Enter Na	me		K	
?	Re-Name Fault London Fault	:		
	ОК	Cancel		

You will be given the option to also name any fault sticks in the cross-sections that are attached to this fault trace on the map.

Rename	Fault STicks
~	You have renamed this Mapped Fault. Would you like to rename associated fault sticks? Note, if the cross sections containing these fault sticks are in GOS, they will need to be checked in to GOS Yes No

3.6.2 Splitting Croplines Using Faults

To split any croplines that intersect with a fault line, right mouse click on the fault line and select **Split intersecting croplines**. This will display a dialog listing all the croplines that intersect the fault line allowing you to choose which lines to split:



Depending on the nature of the fault and whether it comes to the ground surface you may want to only choose a subset of Cropline rock codes to split with the fault. Once selected, click OK and the corresponding croplines will be split at the point where they intersect the fault line:



3.6.3 Flagging Fault Traces At Surface/Subsurface

Digitized fault trace lines in the map do not have to be at the ground surface. To make this clear you can set a flag on the linework via right-click > Tools > Flag As 'In Subsurface'|'At Surface'. The icon and linework graphic changes in the object tree and in the map window respectively to a dashed line.



3.7 STRUCTURAL MEASUREMENTS (DIP/AZIMUTH)

3.7.1 **Import**

Basic dip/azimuth measurements can be imported from a spreadsheet.

Interoperability > Import > ASCII/Text Files (Generic) > Dip/Azimuth Structural Point Data

The importer accepts a space or tab-delimited text file with no header and 4x numeric columns (easting, northing, azimith, dip). Each row in the file is a single measurement. Here is an example with three measurement records.

134202	406049	146	4
144667	405043	56	16
187254	414556	234	56

3.7.2 **Create**

Structural measurements can be entered manually via a map window. Simply right-click at the desired location in an open map window and choose *Create* > *Dip/Azimuth*.



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2015-16

A coordinate dialog allows fine-tuning of the position.

Ð	Coordinate	×
x:		252,600 🚔
Y:		711,425 🌲
	OK Cancel	

Enter a dip value.



Enter an azimuth value.

Enter azi	muth (0-360)	×
?	Azimuth 120	
	OK Cancel	

A measurement appears in the map.



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2015-16

3.7.3 Edit

Imported or manually-created measurements appear under *Geological Objects > Dip and Azimuth Measurements* in the object tree in the left-hand panel.



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2015-16

The dip and azimuth values can be edited from the tree via *right-click* > *Tools* > *Set Dip/Azimuth*.

3.7.4 Structural Contour Tool

You can use structural measurements to calculate and display predicted contours in map and cross-section. To enable contours, in the map, *right-click (on a measurement) > Show Contours*. Enter a vertical tolerance value (metres) for the contour map. A tolerance value of 1m will highlight positions in the map that lie within 1m of the true contour as projected across the map from the structural measurement point. Generally, smaller tolerances can be used in areas of low relief. In mountainous regions, higher tolerances (tens of metres) are needed to produce a usable contour on the map owing to the steep gradients.



The contour map is re-calculated each time map is refreshed. This may lead to a slight delay in map refresh. The contour will also be automatically projected into the cross-section windows as a red line.



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2015-16

A legend shows the variation in height from the exact contour plane, up to the limit set in the tolerance dialog box. Red markers in the map are closer to the real contour plane than blue markers. The presented map is a grid-sampled (raster-style) map as-per BGS SIGMA and references whatever elevation grid is currently set as the Model Cap in the main SETTINGS tab.

In the example above you can see where the contour plane intersects the terrain profile at positions a, b and c.

To switch the contour map off, right-click on the measurement in the map and choose *Hide Contours*.

The contour tool can also be used to look at flood risk, or to look at likely river terrace distribution. To do this, create a new measurement somewhere on a floodplain or at the river with dip = 0 and azimuth = 0. Below is an example of such a value set with a 3m tolerance close to the River Trent at Burton-on-Trent.



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2015-16

3.8 DISPLAY CORRELATED EXTENTS

With cross-sections visible in the map window it is possible to see the spatial distribution of the correlation of a particular rock unit. This is achieved simply by setting the active rock code – when this happens its map distribution in cross-section will appear as thick coloured lines along the lines-of-section. The active rock code can be set from the Codes tab, from the Recent Codes panel of the DRAW ribbon, or by picking up a code from a piece of linework by holding CTRL and hovering the mouse over the line;



Map showing distribution of an orange-coloured rock unit "alne" in cross-sections towards the north of the project.

A nice feature of this function is that you can quickly see the relative distribution of layers across a project by displaying a representative cross-section in a cross-section window, holding CTRL, and dragging the mouse across the section vertically to pick up each code in the geological sequence one after the other. The map will respond by displaying the distribution of each code as you scroll across the section with the mouse.

3.9 SHOWING/HIDING MAP WINDOW OBJECTS

On the right hand side of each map window is the **map contents panel**:

Map1 Objects	Map1 Settings
V Cross-Se	ections
V Cropline	S
w Borehole	25
Taults	
🐨 Other O	bjects

When a new object is added to the map window it will also be inserted under the relevant object type listed on the **Objects** tab. Expanding out each object type heading by clicking on the arrow located on the left hand side of the object label allows you to see what is currently loaded into the map window. From here it is also possible to turn the visibility of objects within the map window on/off. To show or hide all objects of a particular type, check or uncheck the Show/hide all checkbox.



3.10 MAP WINDOW SETTINGS

The settings for the map window can be viewed and changed by clicking on the **Settings** tab of the map contents panel located on the right hand side of the map window:

Map1 Objects Map1 Settings		
Show Elevations		
Show Simplified Croplines		
Set Background Colour		

3.10.1 Elevations

Ticking the checkbox labelled **Show Elevations** will display the elevation from the loaded DTM(s) in the lower left corner status bar of the map window for the mouse cursor location as it passes over the map window:



Unticking the checkbox will return to displaying only the x and y coordinates in the lower left corner of the map window.

3.10.2 Simplified Croplines

Ticking the checkbox labelled **Show Simplified Croplines** will graphically simplify any croplines displayed in the map window using a distance tolerance of 50 to remove nodes from

the line. It is useful when working with large detailed projects as it speeds navigation by making the map window more responsive;



To display the simplified croplines after ticking the checkbox, move the mouse cursor over the map window in order to force the window to refresh.

Ticking the checkbox only removes nodes for graphical display. All original nodes are retained on the cropline object. Unticking the checkbox will return to displaying all the original nodes. Again, once you have unticked the checkbox, move the mouse cursor over the map window in order for the window to refresh.

NOTE: This feature should be disabled when editing linework

3.10.3 Background Colour

This option allows the background colour to be specified using the Select Colour dialog.



After choosing a background colour, the map window is displayed with this colour as the background:



3.11 ACCESSING UK TOPOGRAPHIC BASEMAPS

Having access to topographic basemaps in the map window can be very useful. UK basemaps of some OS Open Data products are made available in Groundhog via a set of free web services hosted by ESRI.



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2015

http://www.esriuk.com/content-services/online-content-services/free-services

These data are available for free under the terms of the Open Government License

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-and-government/products/opendata-products.html

The OS_Open_Carto_2 is a good general basemap to use, and has around 17 levels of detail as you zoom in, right down to street level.

3.11.1 **Configuring Basemaps**

The free data services are served by ESRI as map tiles and are configured in Groundhog by adding an entry to your workspace RESOURCES.txt folder. The WORKSPACE_DEFAULT standard workspace comes pre-configured with key basemaps.

To configure a basemap tile server, add a tab-separated line like the following into RESOURCE.txt in your chosen workspace folder. For more information on Groundhog workspaces, please consult the relevant section of this user manual.

MAP_TILE_SERVER Layer Name	Tile service URL	Service URL	definition
----------------------------	------------------	----------------	------------

e.g.

MAP_TILE_SERVER My_Basemap <u>http://domain.eg/server/tiles/</u> <u>http://domain.eg/server/definition.json</u>

At the time of writing, the main basemap, OS Open Carto 2, has the following URLs for the tile server and the JSON definition, respectively;

http://tiles1.arcgis.com/tiles/qHLhLQrcvEnxjtPr/arcgis/rest/services/OS_Open_Carto_2/MapServer/tile/

 $\underline{http://tiles1.arcgis.com/tiles/qHLhLQrcvEnxjtPr/arcgis/rest/services/OS_Open_Carto_2/MapServer?f=pjson_rest/services/OPEn_Carto_2/MapServer?f=pjson_rest/services/OPEn_Carto_2/MapServer?f=pjson_rest/services/OPEn_Carto_2/Open_C$

The Layer Name field is free text.

When Groundhog starts up it will read the MAP_TILE_SERVER entries and attempt to configure each layer.

3.11.2 Working With Basemaps

Assuming Groundhog was able to configure the layer(s) at start-up, then appear listed in the Settings tab.

[🛃 Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace
	Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help
	HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE DATABASES
	Capping Layer: OS Open Data DTM 50m V Basemap: OS_Open_Carto_2 V Cache only Clear cache NONE OS_Open_Carto_2
	Start 🔨 Workspace 📖 Codes 🗄 Log View 🗰 Grids 🔰 m1 ×
h	

The label in this list will be the label specified in the RESOURCE.txt file. By default, "*NONE*" is selected, so you need to actively choose a basemap layer before it will appear in any of your map windows.

As soon as you choose a basemap from the list, the map tiles will load into your map window(s) on-the-fly as soon as you being navigate (pan or zoom). For any given map view, several tiles will be loaded and displayed to cover the visible extent. This process is not perfect, so you may occasionally see missing borders.

Set the transparency of the basemap layer using the slider control in the settings panel of each map window.



Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 2015

As you start to work with basemaps, you should be aware of the session and disk caching mechanism. Groundhog uses the following protocol;

Groundhog has both a session and a disk cache of map tiles. As each tile is requested by the map window, Groundhog first looks in the **session cache** (i.e. computer memory) to see if the tile has already been loaded. If the tile has not previously been loaded in the session, Groundhog will then check the local **disk cache** for a copy of the tile image. If the tile cannot be found on disk, Groundhog will make a request to the **ESRI web service** and will download the tile.

When new tiles are downloaded they are simultaneously copied to both the session and disk caches for later use. When Groundhog is closed down, the session cache is destroyed, but the disk cache remains. The disk cache is held in a folder called **MAP_TILE_CACHE** within your Groundhog workspace folder. Within that folder are individual sub-folders, one per tile service. The disk cache will continue to fill up indefinitely across multiple sessions, so be aware these folders can potentially become quite large over time.

In cases where Groundhog has the tile(s) in the session cache, navigating will be quite rapid. In cases where tile(s) come from the disk cache there may be a slight delay as the tiles are copied from the disk to the session cache. In the final case where the tile(s) must be freshly downloaded from the web server, the response will slow down noticeably as Groundhog waits for the images to download. Please be patient when navigating in these cases, especially when zooming into new areas where there is no available disk cache.

3.11.3 Using The Disk Cache

The disk cache serves two purposes;

- 1) To improve performance when dynamically loading new tiles as you pan and zoom,
- 2) To allow basemaps to be still displayed when there is no internet connection, or when the ESRI data service is not responding.

For extra performance, even if you have an internet connection, you can either switch the basemap off completely by selecting "*NONE*" from the pull-down list, or use the "*Cache Only*" checkbox in the settings panel. When this box is checked, Groundhog will stop making

web requests for new tiles, and will only display those which are already in either session or disk cache. This significantly improves map navigation performance, so it can be a useful way to zoom into an area of interest before un-checking the box to start downloading again at a greater level of detail.

If you need to work offline, first pre-prepare your area of interest by zooming into it and panning around to fetch all necessary tiles from the server at the level of detail you need. These will be copied automatically to the disk cache for later use. Groundhog also automatically takes a copy of the tile server definition file into the cache ("DEFINITION.json") in case the definition cannot be fetched from the ESRI server. This means you can still work without an internet connection, and Groundhog will display any tiles available in the disk cache.

If the cache folders become too large, you can clear the entire cache for any basemap layer by clicking on *Clear Cache* in the Setting tab. If the basemap behaves erratically or causes errors, try clearing the cache to see if this resolves the problem.

3.12 IMAGES IN THE MAP

Images in the map window can be moved and resized. For further details, please refer to the main **Images** section later in this manual.

4 Cross-Section Window

Cross-section windows display individual cross-section objects. You can open as many as you like, and even open the same cross-section in two separate windows.

4.1 ZOOMING AND PANNING

Panning is achieved by a single left mouse click and drag in the relevant direction.

Zooming in and out can be done by either:

- 1) using the mouse wheel (given you have a mouse with a wheel), or
- using the + and buttons on the toolbar. Here pressing minus will zoom out, but pressing the plus button works differently; it allows you to draw a bounding rectangle (marquee) by click and drag which then auto zooms in to that area.

To zoom to the full extent of the window use the button $\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}$

The mouse wheel zoom is programmed to re-focus on the current mouse cursor position which makes zooming into a point of interest very quick and easy.

4.2 VERTICAL EXAGGERATION

To adjust exaggeration in the vertical axis use the drop down list as shown below. Type in specific values and hit ENTER key if they do not exist in the default list.



Adjust until you reach a comfortable level according to the vertical depth range of the stratigraphic units.

4.3 UNDO/REDO

The cross-section window supports a rudimentary level of undo/redo capability, although this is still in development it should be enough to get out of most problems. To undo or redo any changes made use the Undo/Redo buttons on the right hand side of the taskbar.

4.4 DRAWING CORRELATION LINES

To start drawing, choose the DRAW option from the main taskbar giving you the drawing 'ribbon'. Then choose the type of geological line you wish to draw either by selecting from the 'Codes' tab in the left hand object reference tree, by selecting from the Recent Codes panel in the DRAW ribbon, or by holding CTRL and dragging the mouse across an existing line to pick up its code.

- 1. For correlation lines representing the bases of units, choose the relevant Lithostratigraphy/Lithology combined code from the Rock code library. This will then appear in the (currently) blank text box in the section window taskbar, indicating the labelling for the current working line.
- 2. For all other types of geological object, Fault, Profile or Shape, choose from the 'Lines' option at the bottom of the Code tab in the object tree.
 - 2.1. Fault. Draw a line representing a fault stick.
 - 2.2. **Profile**. Draw a terrain profile. Note here that a DTM will normally be available and a profile will be loaded automatically. If not available draw from scratch by choosing profile and drawing line. If is available you can delete the pre-loaded line and draw your own.
 - 2.3. **Shape**. Draw an irregular shape such as a lens or sketch over an image etc. This feature is intended for rough sketching in a separate "layer", with the idea that geological attribution could be added later on, although this feature is still in development.

To draw a new line between points of reference click on one of the two pen tools in the section window taskbar as shown below.

sheffield2 Section Wir		
Vertical Exaggeration 1.0	Undo Redo	
Profile source: FROM XML FIL		

The left hand **pen** tool allows you to draw a new line by holding the left mouse button down and dragging the pen across the section window until the mouse button is released. Nodes are added automatically, the density of which can be adjusted in the DRAW ribbon by using the slider marked 'Pen tool node density'. Note that the line can subsequently be smoothed once drawn using the 'Vertex edit smoothing' slider in the DRAW ribbon and moving the nodes around.

The right hand **digitizing** tool allows you to draw the line one node at a time, giving greater control over node positioning along the line. Use where positioning of nodes is more critical. Again smoothing is possible by later editing.

4.5 EDITING LINES

To edit a line you must first make the line active by clicking on it with the left mouse button. The nodes are then displayed as shown below, and the line itself will appear green. Nodes can then be moved as appropriate with the option to smooth the line to different levels using the slider 'Vertex Edit Smoothing' in the DRAW ribbon. Line end nodes can be snapped by dragging a node to another (snap enabled) line such as another correlation line (see under snapping in next section).

New nodes can be added by double clicking at the appropriate position along the line.



To remove a node double click that node. To add a node double click anywhere on the line outside existing ones.

To delete a whole line right mouse click on the line and a dialogue box will appear for confirmation. Choose yes and the line is deleted.

To move a whole line position place mouse arrow over the line, hold down the shift key plus left mouse button and drag the line to its new position and then release the mouse button.

4.6 SNAPPING

Definition: attaching one line to another in an unambiguous way by creating a single, common node.

Snapping is necessary in order to create complete, watertight polygons in the section and avoid uncertainties in the connections between lines by spatial proximity alone.

Snaps can be identified by the double circle drawn around the join. The centres are coloured according to the type of snap node.

The following types of snapping are available in the section window:

- 1. correlation line to correlation line.
- 2. correlation line to fault
- 3. correlation line to profile
- 4. fault to fault
- 5. fault to profile
- 6. correlation line to intersecting section

- 7. correlation line to outcrop/subcrop/faultcrop
- 8. correlation line to end of section
- 9. fault to mapped fault
- 10. subdivision marker at the end of a line

To snap two lines together is normally a case of dragging the end node of one line towards the other object. When they reach a certain proximity the two objects will be "snapped" together. Once snapped together the two lines can be edited together using a single operation.

In order to unsnap a node, the CTRL key is held down simultaneously with the node being dragged away from the snapped node. This option is available to all types of snaps.

Different types of snaps behave differently when trying to drag without the CTRL key being used. These differences are explained below. In all cases, one of the lines must be made active before attempting to edit.



Correlation to correlation line snaps can be moved by holding the left mouse button down over the node and dragging the node. This causes the matching snapped line node to also move. The inner circle is coloured to show the colour of the rock

code to which the line is snapped.



Correlation line to fault snaps can be moved by holding the left mouse button down over the node and dragging the node. This causes the matching snapped line node to also move. The inner circle is coloured red to show this type of snap is FAULT STICK.



Correlation line to profile snaps cannot be moved. If the snap is invalid and needs to be changed, the snap must be removed by dragging away using the CTRL key, then resnapped in the correct position, or the node can be deleted. The inner circle is coloured

green to indicate PROFILE SNAP. IMPORTANT: when snapping a correlation line to the profile, if a GRID object is set as the model cap, Groundhog will query the grid layer to obtain an exact profile elevation at that position and will insert it into the profile automatically. In some cases this is not desirable. The first time you snap to the profile during a Groundhog session you will be asked whether to allow Groundhog to auto-sample the model cap each time, or to switch off this feature for the entire session.



If you choose to keep the dynamic model cap sampling active, but wish to switch it off for a particular snap operation, simply check **Freeze Profile** in the section window settings panel on the right to temporarily suspend the auto-sampling for that cross-section.



Fault to Fault snaps can be moved by holding the left mouse button down over the node and dragging the node. This causes the matching snapped line node to also move. The inner circle is coloured blue when this type of snap is first created to indicate Y-FAULT SNAP.

However, by making either line active and right-clicking on the snap node at the Yintersect, the rock code that should be used to colour the area at the base of the Y can be selected from a list. The inner circle now changes to show the colour for the chosen rock code.



Fault to Profile snaps cannot be moved. If the snap is invalid, the snap can be unsnapped using the CTRL key, then re-snapped in the correct position, or the node can be deleted. The inner circle is coloured green for this type of snap.

Correlation line to Intersecting Section snaps cannot be moved in the W direction, i.e. from



side to side. However, they can be moved in the vertical direction, up or down. This is provided that the corresponding section is also loaded into the workspace. If it is not loaded, the node cannot be moved, only unsnapped or deleted. An edit in one section will be automatically mirrored in the crossing section.

Outcrop/Subcrop/Faultcrop snaps are special snaps that are snapped to croplines in the map window. A cropline marker shows the position on the profile where corresponding to the position in the map window. To display the cropline markers click on Show/Hide Cropline Markers in the section window settings panel on the right.



Outcrop snap.

As the end node of the correlation line is dragged towards position on the profile corresponding to the cropline for this rock code, two parallel vertical lines appear in the colour of the matching rock code, marking the area where the node should be snapped. Within this vertical region, drag the correlation line node up to the profile to snap exactly to the corresponding Cropline position.



Once the node is snapped, it cannot be moved, only unsnapped. The marker now has a double line around the square to show that it is snapped.

Subcrop snap



As the end node of the correlation line is dragged towards the cropline position for this rock code, two parallel yellow lines appear, marking the area where the node should be snapped.

Once the node is snapped, it cannot be moved, only unsnapped. The marker moves down onto the correlation line to which the line has been snapped and now has a double line around the square to show that it is snapped.



Profile source : FROM.XML FILE

them from other crop snaps



Fault crop snap. As the end node of the correlation line is dragged towards the cropline position for this rock code, two parallel lines appear, marking the area where the node should be snapped.

Once the node is snapped, it cannot be moved, only unsnapped. The marker moves down onto the fault and now has a double line around the square to show that it is snapped. Fault crop snaps also have a diagonal line across them, to distinguish

Section End snaps are slightly different from other snaps in that they can be unsnapped without using the CTRL key. The snap marker is a large black dot. It is important that correlation lines be snapped to ends of the section for clean linework.



Mapped fault snap. This type of snap snaps the fault drawn in the section to the fault drawn in the map window. The position where the fault line drawn in the map window, cross the section, is shown by the dotted, red, vertical line. It can be unsnapped without using the CTRL key.

4.7 JOINING CORRELATION LINES

To join two lines together simply drag one end node towards the other end node. This creates one single line where the geological attribution is the same -i.e. the two lines will be merged into a single geometry.





If the join is between correlation lines with different rock layer codes then the two lines remain as separate objects with a 'JOIN' snap node between the two as shown below.



Such dis-cordant joins are currently displayed as a sharp vertical boundary. Future versions of the software may enable configurable graphical representation as a zig-zag or graduated transition.

4.8 DELETING LINES

To delete a line simply make the line 'active' by clicking on it, then either right click and respond to a yes/no dialogue box for confirming deletion, or hit the delete key and respond in the same way to the dialogue box.

Note that deleting a line is undoable.

4.9 COPYING LINES

Lines can be copied by specifying a vertical offset for the new line.

First, make the desired rock code for the new line active. In this case we wish to create a new line of Sherwood Sandstone (SSG-SDST rock code).



Select the line to be copied and use right-click > Copy Line.



Enter a vertical offset in metres. A positive value will copy the line above the current line, and a negative value will copy it below. Here we opt to copy the line 35m below the current line.



The new line is added to the cross-section.



Continue adding copied lines to build up the section as desired.

Note that copying lines is undoable.

4.10 WORKING WITH TERRAIN AND ELEVATION PROFILES

Elevation grids can be imported as ASCII files and used to generate profiles in cross-section.

Use the data import screen o or choose *Interoperability* > *Import* > *GIS* > 2D ASCII Grid (*.*asc*) to bring the data in. As the grid is imported it will be auto-converted to binary Groundhog format for rapid querying purposes, and a copy will be saved out to the same folder as the source *asc file (subject to folder permissions), or to the local workspace cache. Imported grids appear under *Reference Objects* > *Grid Coverages* in the object tree.

Any grid profile can be displayed in cross-section, but the profile used to cap a cross-section is treated in a special way and is referred to as the 'model cap' or terrain profile. To set a grid as the source for a model cap/terrain profile, select it from the *Capping Layer* drop-down in the **SETTINGS** tab on the main window ribbon toolbar, or *right click* on the entry in the tree and choose *Set As 'Model Cap'*.

4.10.1 Viewing Profiles in Cross-Section

By default, each time you view a cross-section that does not have a terrain profile line, one will be auto-generated by sampling the grid layer currently set as the 'model cap' object. Usually this only takes a second or two. The resolution of the sampling is controlled by the Profile Node Count in the main SETTINGS tab (see later section for details on how to change the resolution).

Elevation grids that are not currently set as the 'model cap' object can also be displayed as profiles. These objects are referred to as '*modelled object* grids'. They are hidden by default. To switch them on use the check boxes in the Grids tab in the section window object control panel.

1



By default the profile will be drawn in light gray colour. To change the colour of a modelled object grid profile, right-click on its entry in the object control and choose settings.

	I Coverages I Images 1 ondo	
	Grids	
	Grids	
	All Grids	
	OS Open Data DTM 50m	
- 1	ukgwl	V
	Settings	

Click Set Line Colour n the settings dialog.



Choose a colour and click OK. Close the settings dialog.





4.10.2 Editing The Terrain Profile

The model cap/terrain profile can be edited. This can be useful if you need to over-ride the sampled grid to add details proven from other sources, such as excavation plans or artifical ground maps, that are not present in the grid source data. Other types of elevation grid (modelled grids) are just graphical and cannot be edited.

IMPORTANT: Before adding detail manually, first consider whether the detail is really absent from the source grid data, or whether it is only missing due to coarse grid sampling in the profile generation. If the grid contains the necessary detail, do not add it manually – instead, increase the profile sampling resolution and update the profile to bring in more detail from the source grid (refer to later section on changing the resolution of elevation profiles).

To edit the profile line, first click on it to make it active as with any editable line. Then drag and add nodes as described earlier (see editing lines).

This is useful where you need to add fine detail such as a new artificial ground area, or say a channel which had been obscured when the original DTM was recorded, or is only visible at finer detail than currently available in the grid.

Note that the freeze profile option mentioned under the settings section does not prevent editing of the line, but is rather to control the snapping to profile of geological line work.

4.10.3 Generating a Terrain Profile Manually

In cases where no digital terrain model is available, or where a manually created cross-section profile is desired (for example where you wish to digitize over an image), it is possible to create one interactively. Click on the *Create Fixed Elevation Profile* button in the cross-section settings panel.

] 	Section 1 Objects Section 1 Settings					
ſ	Set Background Colour					
	Show snaps					
	🔲 Freeze Profile					
	Show polygon borders					
	Show polygons					
	Borehole options					
	Clean section					
	Snap					
Trim						
	Lipdate profiles					
	Create fixed elevation profile					
	Check geological sequence					
	Animate					

Confirm that you wish to generate a profile.

Profile U	pdate?
?	Are you sure you want to generate a fixed elevation profile?
	Yes No

Enter the desired elevation value (for negative values, prefix with a minus sign).

Elevation	1	×
?	Absolute Elevation (metres) -12.5 OK Cancel	

A fixed profile with ten vertices is generated at the specified elevation and can then be manually shaped as desired.



IMPORTANT: Bear in mind that if a terrain model grid is loaded into the workspace and set as the Model Cap, if you snap a correlation line to a manually created or edited profile, the

value from the grid layer will still be queried. To prevent this from happening make sure to check on "Freeze Profile" in the cross-section settings panel.

4.10.4 Changing the Resolution of Elevation Profiles

You can adjust the model cap grid sampling resolution of elevation profiles within the crosssection windows. The resolution setting is global and can be set using the *Profile Node Count* control in the main window *Settings* tab. This list contains a number of presets, but you can also type custom values in.

F	Grou	ndhog Desk	top GSIS	5 - [DEFAULT works	pace
Se	ession	Interoperab	ility To	ols	Geology Help	
	HOME	SETTINGS	DRAW	CA	LCULATE	
	Profile	Node Count	50	Ŧ	Capping Layer:	OS Open Da
			75	*		
4 4 4			100			
4 4 4			150			
1 1 1			200	Ċ.		
	tart 🔥		300	_		
2		Vorkspace	400	Ξ	s 🗧 Log View	
_			500			
			FULL	Ŧ		

The setting controls the approximate number of sampled vertices along the cross-section – for example, a setting of 50 will create a profile in the cross-section with approximately 50 vertices along its length. The default setting is 200 which generates a resonable profile quickly in most situations.

If you want a full-resolution profile, choose "FULL" from the options. This will sample the profile at the same resolution as the grid data.

Once you have made your selection, any elevation profiles generated after that point will use the new setting. If you need to update an existing profile with the new setting, use the *Update Profile(s)* button within each cross-section window to refresh the profile(s).



The *Update Profiles* option prompts you to choose which class of profiles to update. This can be useful where you want to see non-model cap (non-terrain) elevation profiles (for example a groundwater level grid) at a different resolution without affecting the model cap profile.



IMPORTANT: Using a high resolution model cap (terrain) profile in a cross-section may lead to poor performance due to the large number of vertices to be checked for snapping operations. In case of problems please refer to the Simplifying Elevation Profiles section of this manual which describes how to reduce the node density of a detailed line.

You can specify the default setting for the workspace permanently by adding an entry to the workspace's tab-separated RESOURCE.txt configuration file. Here are three examples, the last example shows how to set the sampling to full resolution;

PROFILE_SAMPLE_DENSITY	50
PROFILE_SAMPLE_DENSITY	300
PROFILE_SAMPLE_DENSITY	FULL

4.10.5 Simplifying Elevation Profiles

Profiles within cross-sections can be simplified using a line simplicification algorithm (Douglas Peucker). This can be useful where you are using profiles at high resolution and need to remove some of the nodes from the profiles to improve performance whilst retaining the overall detail of the line. Within the cross-section window settings panel, click *Simplify profiles*.





Select which class of profile to simplify.



Specify the tolerance (metres) for the simplification. Start with a small value (e.g. 0.5), and work up to a larger value if you are not sure.

Tolerand	e 💌		
2	Enter tolerance value (m)		
	1.5		
	OK Cancel		
		1	
540,			
540	$n \sim -$		
111	\sim \sim		\sim
111			
540			
and the second s	\sim	********************	.
111	Y V		

4.11 SHOW/HIDE LAYERS

To make lines visible or invisible tick the relevant box in the <section name> objects -> Correlated units list in the right hand side Settings and Objects window. Ticking a box makes that unit visible, with un-ticking making it invisible. Example shown below.



4.12 DRAWING SUB-DIVIDED STRATIGRAPHY

It is possible to sub-divide stratigraphy in a basic way within Groundhog Desktop. There are two scenarios, but the basics are the same.

- 1) Where the base of the parent horizon is itself already subdivided,
- 2) Where the base of the parent horizon is attributed with a single rock code.

4.12.1 Parent Horizon Is Sub-Divided

In this case, the base line is already comprised of more than one line joined together. Simply draw in the sub-division base, and then drag each end of it across the join position in the parent base horizon to snap to the appropriate location.



4.12.2 Parent Horizon Has A Single Code

In this case, simply draw the sub-division base within the parent horizon's polygon, then make the line active and use *Right-click* > *Mark As Sub-Division*.



The parent line below is actually split into separate lines using a JOIN-type snap object. The sub-division line has sub-division marker snaps nodes attached at both ends.



You can now draw additional child layers either above or below the existing one. To conect them to the same sub-division level, drag their end vertices towards the end of the existing subdivions (from left to right). When they get close they will snap to the correct position.



Moving either a join position in the parent base, or a sub-division marker at the end of a child horizon will cause the other to follow. To dis-connect, hold down CTRL key and drag one of the snapped nodes away.



4.13 WORKING WITH FAULTS IN SECTION

The expression of a fault plane within the plane of the cross-section is captured by drawing a line referred to as a Fault Stick. To draw a fault stick, select the code "Fault" from the codes panel, and start drawing.

Correlation lines must be split across the fault sticks, and then snapped to either side, usually with an offset representing the displacement on the fault. This can be done either by drawing the fault first, and then drawing two correlation lines either side, or by drawing a single correlation line, and then drawing a fault line through that line to split it.

Draw fault stick, followed by two correlation lines.



Alternatively, draw correlation line, then draw fault stick through the line to split it. Carefully dragging the end node of the fault stick will actually push back the correlation line. Alternatively, just drag the ends of the correlation lines away to create the gap.


Snap the two correlation lines to the fault stick to represent the displacement on the fault plane. Faults can be drawn normal or reverse. Once snapped together, the snapped node can be dragged to update both lines simultaneously.



Drawing Fault Sticks at Cross-Section Ends

Where fault sticks are snapped to the start or end of the cross-section, special consideration is necessary.

If the top of the fault stick is snapped to the start or end of the section, just draw normally around the fault.



If you experience problem with layers colouring up in these scenarios, try adding an extra node to the top segment of the fault stick (known issue).





If the bottom of the fault stick is snapped, and the section does not colour up correctly, Groundhog may need more information about the geological situation at the snap position. For example;



In these scenarios, you must set the rock code attribute at the snap position. To do this, make the fault stick active by clicking on it, then right-click directly on the snap node at the bottom of the stick and choose > *Select Base Unit*.



A list of recently drawn rock codes will be presented. Pick the one that is present at the snap position (in this case "ARPS-PSSP"). If you have not recently drawn that layer, to get the value to appear in the list, draw a temporary correlation line of that code in order to get it added to the recent list, which you can then delete after the attribute has been set.



4.13.1 Referencing Mapped Faults

Any faults drawn in the map window (fault traces) which intersect the line of the cross-section will be displayed as a vertical dashed marker line. If the faults are named they will also be labelled. The top of a fault stick can be attached to this marker to make a connection between the two objects. This is helpful when grouping fault sticks by-fault, for example if you wish to export the geometries to a 3D or CAD package for meshing or modelling. Simply, drag the top vertex of a fault stick towards the fault trace marker to make the connection. Once connected the top vertex can only be moved vertically. To remove the connection, hold down the CTRL key and drag away.



4.13.2 Naming Faults

Mapped faults and fault sticks can have names associated with them. This can be useful if you have a fault naming scheme you wish to use for ease of identification.

To name a mapped fault (fault trace), right-click on its entry in the object tree and choose Re-Name Fault. You will be prompted to also name any fault sticks that are attached to this fault in cross-section. In general, the name of the mapped object over-rides the name of individual fault sticks, so a re-name here will re-name the associated fault sticks, even if they were previously named.

To name a fault trace, make the line active in the cross-section, and use right-click > Re-Name Fault Stick, and enter a name in the dialog.

Re-Nam	e Fault Stick
?	Please provide a new name for the fault stick: Fault C
	OK Cancel

If the fault stick already has a name that is inherited from a connection to a mapped fault, you will not be able to rename the individual stick and will see this message.

Cannot F	Re-name Fault Stick
1	Cannot re-name fault stick as it is snapped to a mapped fault that is already named. You must re-name the mapped fault to change the name.
	ОК

If you connect a fault stick to a mapped fault marker and the mapped fault (fault trace) already has a name you will be prompted to confirm that the fault stick will inherit the name label of the mapped fault.



If you connect a named fault stick to the marker of an un-named mapped fault (fault trace), or if you name a fault stick that is already connected to the marker of an un-named mapped fault (fault trace) you will be prompted to name the mapped fault using the same name.

Re-name	e Mapped Fault
?	Parent mapped fault has no name. Do you want to give it the same name as this fault stick?
	<u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o

4.14 WINDOW SETTINGS

In the same right hand side Settings and objects window, click on the settings tab. This brings up a series of buttons and checkboxes. As shown:

Section 1 Objects Section 1 Settings
Set Background Colour
Colour Fill
🗹 Ornament Fill
Show snaps
Freeze Profile
Show polygon borders
Show polygons
Borehole options
Clean section
Trim
Update profiles
Create fixed elevation profile
Simplify profiles
Check geological sequence
Animate
Show/Hide Cropline Markers
Show/Hide Structure Contours
Add Structure Contours To Profile
Export to SVG
Quick Stats

Background Colour

To set the background colour click on button labelled same and choose a colour in the new pop-up window. Click OK after choosing colour. The colour is now applied to the backdrop of the section.

Colour Fill

Turns the rock unit colouring on and off in section.

Ornament Fill

Turns the ornament display on and off in section.

Show/Hide Snaps

Tick or un-tick the checkbox labelled show snaps to switch between visible and invisible for the snap nodes.

Freeze Profile

The software will automatically resample the DTM when snapping correlation lines work to the terrain profile, in order to get the highest resolution on the snap position. However this is not always desirable. To freeze the DTM profile line so that re-sampling is NOT applied on snapping, check the box with same name.

When the box is un-ticked the profile will be re-sampled to finer detail as the snapping takes place, when this is appropriate (not already at highest resolution). This allows exact snapping to a DTM without the need for full resolution detail along the entire profile.

Show Polygon Borders

This will draw black borders around the polygons. This can be useful to highlight the stratigraphy, especially if several similar colours are in use in the legend.

Show Polygons

This is checked on by default, and simply provides a way to switch off the polygon rendering should you wish to work with the raw linework only.

Borehole Options

Boreholes will automatically appear in the section if your section drawn in the plan window includes boreholes as node points (coincident in space).



To alter the display characteristics of the borehole choose <section name> settings from the RHS menu. Click on Borehole Options and you will get the dialogue box:

🛓 Borehole Options	×
Borehole Width:	þo ₽
Borehole labels required?	
Show strat instead of lith?	
Collar height	Use collar heights from log data $\qquad \lor$
Transparency %	
0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 8	0 90 100
-	Apply Cancel

Borehole Width - sets the graphical width in the section display

Textures - not yet implemented

Labels - shows/hides labels

Show strat instead of lith – toggles between lithology codes and lithostrat codes (if available) for borehole rendering and labelling

Collar height – set the collar height mode; 1) use heights from data only 2) hang boreholes with missing collar heights off the terrain profile 3) hang ALL boreholes off the terrain profile. Note that logs hung off the terrain display with red borders and labels in the section window for clarity.

Clean Section

This button cleans up the Section linework by 1) removing invisible duplicate vertices (including vertices closer together than the tolerance set by the software), the presence of which can prevent the colouring up of the section polygons, 2) removing zero-length lines (lines with only a single vertex) and 3) adding a 3rd vertex to the mid-point of lines with only two vertices as lines with only two vertices are difficult to snap correctly.

If you find that your section is not colouring up in full, this option will resolve the issue in cases of node duplication.

Trim

Trims lines back to section extent. Useful for cleaning up imported cross-sections where the correlation lines extend beyond the line-of-section.

Update Profiles

This button reloads the DTM profile in the section by re-querying the grid layer that is current set as the Model Cap. The layer can be changed by selecting it from the pull-down options in the main toolbar, or by right-clicking on a grid layer in the reference objects tree and selecting "Set as model cap".

Choose a different DTM from the LHS object reference menu under the 'Workspace' tab, under which appears the expandable node 'Reference Objects'. Expanding this shows another expandable node – 'Grid Coverages'. Under this node is a list of DTMs which you can use as a section cap.

IMPORTANT: You should only use this option if you need to switch to a different terrain model for the cross-section profile. Once you have done this you will need to re-snap any linework that is drawn up to the old profile.

Create Fixed Elevation Profile

Firstly a dialog asks the user to confirm that they wish to generate a fixed elevation profile. Upon confirmation, a 2^{nd} dialog box requests the elevation value:

Elevation		\times
?	Absolute Elevation (metres)	
	OK Cancel	

Simplify Profiles

Firstly a dialog asks the user to confirm that they wish to generate a fixed elevation profile. Upon confirmation, a 2^{nd} dialog box requests:

Select Typ	pe of Update Required 🛛 🗙 🗙	
?	 Simplify Terrain Only Simplify Modelled Object Profiles Only Simplify All 	
	OK Cancel	

A further dialog then asks:



After a tolerance value has been entered and accepted here, the selected profiles are simplified, by removing all nodes that have a depth within the tolerance value of the node next to them,

Check Geological Sequence

This button will be implemented in future versions of Groundhog.

Cropline Markers

Markers are placed along the profile where a cropline on the map crosses the section line in plan. This allows for section linework (e.g. correlation line) to be kept spatially coincident with map linework of the same unit. The linework in the two 2D 'planes' are then tied together. This is achieved by snapping the line in the section to the cropline marker (see section on snapping).

Such croplines can be both surface crops and sub-surface, the latter being where a unit subcrops against another unit.

Switch cropline markers on and off using the button 'Show/Hide Cropline Markers'.

Export to SVG

This button allows you to export the section to XML based Scalable Vector Graphics format. This vector format is supported by many graphics packages and can be useful for producing high-quality report graphics.

Quick Stats

Selecting this options displays a window with all the rock units within the section, with the area in square metres and percentage of the total rock shown.

4.15 FIXED DISPLAYED ELEMENTS

Other elements displayed on the section are fixed. These include:

1. Crossing sections.

Modelling involves the building up of fence diagrams which consist of individual sections in a mesh. Each section in the meshwork that crosses the active one will be displayed as a black vertical line with a label (section name) at the base.

2. Fault positioning lines.

These appear as vertical dashed lines in red. They are used as an aid in 'attaching' a fault stick in the section to a fault drawn in the map window (see section on Faults). This then ties together this fault stick with the larger 'parent' fault drawn on the map (a fault is made up of several such sticks drawn in different sections in the fence meshwork).

4.16 ATTACHING AN IMAGE

When creating a new section it can be useful to overlay an existing image to act as a backdrop when drawing linework. Good examples would be seismic traces, in the field quarry/cliff face images etc.

Follow steps below:

- Load the image into the workspace. On the top menu go to *Interoperability -> Import -> GIS -> Image* (*Including Geo-Registered Images*). Alternatively click on the Load an Image icon in the toolbar. The image then appears under the LHS referenced objects window under Workspace -> Images.
- Bring the image into the section window by right clicking on the section in the data tree and choose *Tools -> Associate/Disassociate Image*. In the dialog presented choose the desired image from those loaded in
 the session. If an image has already been associated with a cross section, it can be disassociated here.



3. The image will appear at a small default size. Click and drag to expand to the required size. The top left node on the image is used to position the image (drag to position), and the bottom right node is used to stretch it (drag to resize).



4. Images can be made visible and invisible using the Images settings. Right clicking in the Settings panel allows the transparency to be set for images in the cross section.

ical Exaggeration 1.0 🔹 🔯 🛞 🕞 📏 SHAPE 🗾 BASE 👻 Undo Redo		
e source: UNKNOWN	Bluejay Objects Bluej	ay Settings
	Correlated Units	
	All units chiti-Imst	V
	Dugong mns-mdsd	×
100	rg-clcret	V
- Contraction of the second se		
and the second sec		
A STATE STATE AND A STATE AND		
-1549	Placejay Coverages Bl	uejay Imago
	Images	
0	Images	L levi 1
O Carrier Carrier	All Images tm24.jpg	v
	SK20801.jpg	
9	SK2080.jpg	v

5. Now draw linework over the image.

4.17 SECTION COLOURING UP – TROUBLESHOOTING GUIDE

Within the section window, areas of rock (polygons) are coloured with the colour associated with the rock code. For the polygon colouring to work correct the linework must be clean and properly snapped, otherwise the correlation linework will appear just as lines. There are a number of rules that must be understood, in order to make the colouring work correctly:

Coloured polygons will only exist where snapping has taken place, so there is a proper link between lines. Snap nodes must exist on both lines that are snapped together. Occasionally, one of the snap nodes may be lost, so it is important to check that this has not happened. It is easy to tell because each correct snap will have two circles, an outer black circle and a smaller inner filled-in circle of various colour.

It is also important that correlation lines that go to and beyond the end of the section are snapped to the end of section. If your section has many lines running beyond the section extent use the **Trim** button in the settings panel.

When troubleshooting colouring up of a section, always try the *Clean Section* button in the section window setting panel. This looks for common problems and addresses them automatically.

There are a number of reasons why coloured polygons are not always created. These include:

- Duplicate nodes in order to check this, moving each node in the polygon should reveal whether or not there is another node underneath it. However, to simply remove all duplicate nodes, click on the *Clean section* button on the Settings tab (see example below)
- Disordered nodes sometimes there are two nodes at the end of the section, with different Z values. One of these needs to be removed.
- Crossing lines if lines cross, polygons cannot be formed. All polygons must be simple polygons <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Simple_polygon</u>.
- Nodes very close to each other these can produce strange angles and have a similar effect to crossing lines. Moving a node slightly solves the problem.
- Lines that run back on themselves for a small segment.
- Lines that look like one, but are actually comprised of several lines that need to be merged ("joined").

The following diagrams illustrate some of these problems:



Using the trim button has cut all the lines back to the section boundaries and solved some of the problems:



However, after snapping some of the nodes, there is still a problem and the area above the chalk (yellow) is still not colouring up. The section below has been vertically exaggerated to show the problem more clearly.



One of the correlation lines does not quite reach the end of section, as demonstrated within the red circle. Also, if there are duplicate nodes along some of these lines. Clicking the Clean section button solves this problem.



After snapping the remainder of the unsnapped nodes, the section is now coloured correctly:





In the following section the yellow line looks like it is one correlation line:

In fact it is two lines, which is causing some polygons to fail.



These two lines, which have the same rock code attribution, need to be joined together, by dragging one of the end nodes of one line towards the end node of the other line. Note that simply joining these two lines has fixed two polygons – the yellow one and the more laterally extensive brown polygon.



If two lines cross the section will not colour up properly



Snapping the lines back to the other line, solves the problem





Having two nodes on the end of section boundary for the same line, causes a problem

Deleting one of these nodes solves the problem. This situation is not always obvious, so if you have a problem polygon always try an un-snap and a re-snap at each end of the line – this may reveal duplicate nodes and other issues that are not graphically apparent.



5 Log Window and Borehole Editing Functions

Borehole logs can be edited directly in the object tree or graphically in log window view. The functionality is identical for both, but is described here using the log window. The log window is template based and you can design your own borehole log templates to work in.

5.1 LOG WINDOW TEMPLATES

The log window is customisable using the concept of templates. Groundhog Desktop ships with basic, default templates to get you started. These are non-modifiable, but can be copied and changed, or new templates can be created interactively.

Templates can be modified in several ways. These include:

Clicking on the **Open a new log window** button:



Right clicking against the selected template in the tree, then selecting *View Template*:



Right clicking against a borehole and selecting View In Log Window:

÷.

				-
	File Load: source unknown (14 boreholes)			^
	🕀 🔶 (x1) 1 Bore	hole 1		
	🗄 🔶 2 Borehole	2		
🕀 🔶 3 Borehole 3				
		Create New Geology Log		
	⊕	View In Log Window		
	⊕ (x1)	Tools	>	
	⊕ (x1) 8 ●	View Borehole In Map	>	
	🙃 🔶 10 Borebol	e 10		

All three options, above, require an existing template to be selected. Alternatively, a new template can be created from scratch, by right clicking against *Templates* in the tree (under the *Resources* folder) and selecting *New Template*.

			1
Basic [D	New Te	emplate	
DEFAULT	[DEFAULT]	<u> </u>	
	ve	Create a r	ew template
	ology		

All these options will allow editing of a template, but only selecting *View In Log Window* from a borehole in the tree will display the template together with the borehole data. The other three options open an empty template in isolation from any data. You may find it easier to edit your templates with some borehole log data displayed as this gives a clearer view of how the logs will look. If you do not have any borehole data loaded you can create one to work with by clicking the *Create a new borehole object* option from the Welcome screen.



Each Template is comprised of three areas; the Header, Tracks and Footer.

		Header		
	Page 1 of 1		1-07-2017	
	DEPTH METRES	GEOLOGY LOG	LITHOLOGY	DEPTH
-1 -2 -3 -4 -5 -6 -7 -8 -9 -10)	Tracks		
Basi	c Log Template	Footer		

- 1. Header provides cells for a title and other key fields to be labelled up, and a region in the top left for an icon or logo of your choice.
- 2. Tracks multiple tracks of different types are displayed here. The tracks can be used to display the borehole data and other key depth-related information such as scale bars.
- 3. Footer provides space for a basic text label.

The dimensions and settings of these regions can be edited. However, in order to do this, the template must be switched to "edit mode" using the toolbar button,

LOG WINDOW - TEMPLATE Basic ×
🗏 📴 📴 🔁 💽 莘 Page Setup 💿 🕣

Or via right-click in the log window,



When the button icon is red the template is editable. If it is black, it is non-editable. When the template is editable its region lines turn blue in the log window. Clicking on the *Edit Template* button repeatedly toggles between the two modes.

5.1.1 **Resizing Regions**

Most lines which bound the various regions in the template can be dragged to a different position using the mouse. If a line is moveable, it turns green as the mouse passes across it. The line can now be dragged to the new position using the left mouse button.



When resizing tracks, the percentage of the total area being used by the track on the left and on the right of the line are shown in green:



5.1.2 **Re-Ordering Log Tracks**

Tracks can also be repositioned by placing the mouse in the header section of the track and starting to drag:

Γ		?				
		Page 1 of 1		11-07-2	017	
		DEPTH METRES		Aa	LITHOLOGY	
	- 1					
	-2					
	-3					
-	- 4					
-	- 5					



As the track starts to cross the next track, the header changes colour:

Once the mouse is over the new track, the header turns green again and the track can be dropped in its new location:

			?			
	Page 1 of 1		11-07-2017	11-07-2017		
E	DEPTH METRES	GEOLOGY LOG		E DEPTH		
-1						
-2						
-3						
- 4						
			?			
	Page 1 of 1		11-07-2017			
E	DEPTH METRES	Aa LITHOLOGY	GEOLOGY LOG			
-2						
- 3						
- 4						

5.1.3 Editing Template Header

The template header is comprised of three areas.

Logo	Title	?
LUGU	Page 1 of 1	Header Fields1-07-2017

There are a series of context menus which appear on the right click of the mouse, but vary, depending on where the mouse is. All the header areas have the following four options available on right click,

- 1. Page Setup
- 2. Fit to Page
- 3. Watermark
- 4. Stop Editing Template

The other menu items are context specific and will be described under the areas they relate to.

5.1.3.1 PAGE SETUP

The following options are available within the Page Setup dialog:

🛃 Log Template Settings 🛛 🗙 🗙			
Page Size: NONE 🗸			
Units Per Page: 10.0 V			
Unit Type: METRES 🗸			
Start Height: 0 🗬			
Font Size: 11			
Font: DEFAULT ~			
OK Cancel			

Page Size: None, A0, A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, A6, Letter, Legal, Foolscap,

Units Per Page: There are a number of pre-set values available, but any number can be typed into this box,

Unit Type: Metres/Feet,

Start Height: Any positive or negative integer. Normally this should be set to zero (0),

Font Size: The font point size to use for the template,

Font: List of available fonts.

5.1.3.2 FIT TO PAGE

This option automatically sizes the template to fit into the Page Size, which has been previously chosen using the Page Setup function.

5.1.3.3 WATERMARK

A dialogue box requests the text that is required for the watermark. This is then printed in the header area of the template.

5.1.3.4 Stop Editing Template

Turns off edit mode.

5.1.3.5 LOGO

An image file can be chosen either from the workspace or from a file location. This will then be displayed in the Logo area of the template header.

5.1.3.6 TITLE

On selecting the option to edit the title, the following dialog box appears:

🛃 Edit Field 🛛 🗙
Value
#_BOREHOLE.NAME
Fields
Insert
STANDARD TEMPLATE FIELDS #_PAGE #_INUMPAGES #_USER #_DATE #_DATE #_DATE #_DATE #_DAY #_MONTH #_YEAR KEY BOREHOLE FIELDS #_BOREHOLE.X #_BOREHOLE.Y #_BOREHOLE.Y #_BOREHOLE.COLLAR_HEIGHT #_BOREHOLE.ID #_BOREHOLE.ID #_BOREHOLE.NAME OTHER AVAILABLE BOREHOLE ATTRIBUTES
Apply Cancel

Type in the value to be displayed into the *Value* box. You can insert any of the preset fields from the lower panel by highlighting the required entry and clicking *Insert* – this will insert

the value at the current text cursor position in the *Value* field. The final value in the *Value* field can be any combination of free text and preset fields.

5.1.3.7 HEADER FIELDS

An existing field can be edited in the same way as discussed above, by selecting *Edit Field* from the menu. This gives the same dialogue box shown above.

If more fields are required, either a column or a row can be added:



Once new fields have been added, they can be edited in the manner described above.

Header fields can only be deleted as whole rows or whole columns by selecting the *Delete* option.

5.1.4 Editing Tracks

Right clicking anywhere in the track header gives the following menu:



Many of these option have already been described above, with the exception of the following:

5.1.4.1 RESET ALL TRACK WIDTHS

Re-distributes all tracks to have an equal width within the template.

5.1.4.2 Set Track To a Specified Width

A dialogue box requests the percentage of the total track width to assign to this selected track. If the track is any track other than the furthest on the right, adjusting the track size will also correspondingly adjust the size of the track to its right. For the furthest track on the right, adjusting its size will also adjust the track on its left. E.g. if track number 1 has a percentage value of 25% and track 2 also has a percentage value of 25%, adjusting track 1 to 20% will cause the width for track 2 to be adjusted to 30%.

5.1.4.3 INSERT TRACK ON LEFT/RIGHT

Inserts a new track to the left or right of the currently selected track. This is achieved by halving the width of the selected track and creating a new track of the same width (half the size of the original track). Sizes can be adjusted afterwards, as required.

When inserting a new track you need to specify the type of renderer to use. The different renderers draw the data or depths in various ways. Depending on the type selected you may be prompted to select a data field to use to populate the track, for example "LITHOLOGY".



Groundhog Desktop is shipped with some default track renderers, examples of which can be seen below.



For all types of track apart from a depth track and a marker depth track, it is also necessary to supply details of which measurement to base the track rendering on. If there is borehole data associated with the template, a drop down list of possibilities is provided. Otherwise, the name of the measurement field must be typed into the box e.g. "LITHOLOGY" or "GR". By default the name of the field is used as the track header label.

5.1.4.4 INSERT TRACK ON RIGHT

This is essentially the same as the option above, but the track appears to the right of the selected track.

5.1.4.5 DELETE TRACK

A dialogue box requests confirmation that this track is really to be deleted. Upon confirmation, the track is deleted and the space previously used by the track allocated to the track on its right. If the track is the rightmost track, its space is given to the track to its left.

5.1.5 Editing Template Footer

The template footer can be edited by selecting Edit Footer Label from the right click menu. This provides a text box where the label value may be typed in.

5.1.6 Track Settings

Each type of track has its own settings dialogue, which enable customisation of the track rendering. These are as follows:

Interval tracks:

Interval Track Settings					
FIELD	FIELD LITHOLOGY				
LABEL	LABEL GEOLOGY LOG				
Colo	bur Fill				
<mark>⊘ O</mark> rn	ament Fill				
	OK Cancel				

Curve tracks:

Set Curve Render Options X				
Add Curve				
General Log Scale				
Number of Divisions 0 🗸				
Curves				
GR				
Colour				
Transparency 0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100				
Flipped Filled				
Delete				
OK Cancel				

Depth tracks:

E Set Depth Track Options ×				
Measurement Scale depth				
Left Depth Track	Right Depth Track			
LEFT Track Required? 🔽	RIGHT Track Required? 🔽			
Units metres 🧹	Units feet 🗸			
Major Tick Spacing 100 🜩	Major Tick Spacing 300 🜩			
Minor Division	Minor Division			
OK Cancel				

Text tracks:

Aa Text Track Settings	×
FIELD LITHOLOGY	
LABEL	
OK Cancel	

5.1.7 Saving a Template

On exiting Groundhog, a confirmation dialogue box asks for confirmation as to whether or not any changed templates should be saved.

Templates can also be saved at any time by clicking the Save button:

LOG WINDOW - TEMPLATE Temp1 ×			
🔲 🔁 陆 🗳 💽 🛱 Page Setup 🛞 😑			

This button is only enabled when there are changes to save.

5.2 VIEWING AND EDITING A BOREHOLE LOG

To open a borehole in a log window, right click against the borehole and select *View in Log Window*. This option is available in the object tree, the map window and the cross-section window.

tart	🔨 Workspace 👔	Codes
	🕀 🗛 Croplines	
	Boreholes	
	🖨 🔁 🔶 File Loa	d: source unknown (14 boreholes)
	Attribu	tes
	⊕ 🔶 (x1) 1	Borehole 1
	🕀 🗘 2 Borel	iole 2
	🕀 🗘 3 Borel	iole 3
	🖨 🔿 (x1) 4	Borehole 4
		Create New Geology Log
	⊕⊡Geom	View In Log Window
	⊟ <mark>⊟</mark> GE(Tools >
		View Borehole In Map >
	🕀 🛃	Delete From Session
		31.2 to 102. IM [LITHOLOGY = MUDSTONE]
		102.1 to 179.2m [LITHOLOGY = CHALK]
	🖶 🔛	179.2 to 207.5m [LITHOLOGY = SANDSTONE]
	E S Borek	ole 5

A drop down list asks which log template should be used:

Select Ter	mplate	\times
?	Select Template Basic OK Cancel] ~

IMPORTANT: Although, technically, Groundhog boreholes can contain multiple distinct geology logs, the log window templates will only display the data from the first one.

😼 Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace Example.gop						– o ×
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help						
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE						
Profile Node Count: 100	d Baramani OS Onen Carto 2	Carbe only Clear carb	e Global Property: GEOI	UNIT NAME		
capping Layer. Co open bata prim Serect ough	o o osenep. os_open_carto_z		diobal Property. dcol	UNIT THE V		
Start Vorkspace Codes	LOG WINDOW - BH Borehole 4 ×					
A Cropines	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Page Setup (*)				
File Load: source unknown (14 boreholes)						
Attributes				TITLE		
(x1) 1 Borehole 1						
B - C 2 Borehole 2		X: 630770.0		Y: 288237.5		
G Borehole 3		i\				
		4		Borehole 4		
Hereit (1 vertex)		/				
Beology	1835	COLLAR HEIGHT: 14.5		PAGE: 1		
0.0 to 7.2m [LITHOLOGY = PEAT]		COLDAR HEIGHT. 14.5		PROL. I		
7.2 to 31.2m [LITHOLOGY = SAND]	релти		DEPTH			
31.2 to 102.1m [LITHOLOGY - MUDSTONE]	METRES DEPTH	LITHOLOGY	DEFIN	Description	LITHOS TRAT	
ID2.1 to 179.2m [LITHOLOGY = CHALK]	_	الملد الملد الملد الملد الملد. د الملد الملد الملد الملد الم				
ITP.2 to 207.5m [LITHOLOGY = SANDSTONE]	- 1.0	عاد عاد ماد عاد ماد ماد ماد ه ماد ماد ماد ماد م				
⊕ 💠 5 Borehole 5		عاد عاد ماد عاد ماد ماد د ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد				
⊕ - 🗘 6 Borehole 6	- 2.0	عاد عاد ماد عاد ماد ماد ماد د ماد ماد ماد ماد م				
E 🗘 (x1) 7 Borehole 7	- 3.0	ala ala ala ala ala ala a ala ala ala al				
	L	ماده ماده ماده ماده ماده ماده د ماده ماده ماده ماده م ماده ماده ماده ماده ماده ماده				
	- 4.0	o allo allo allo allo allo allo o allo all				
B → 11 Borehole 11	- 5.0	د ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد				
⊕ -Ô- (x1) 12 Borehole 12	E.c.	د ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد . ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد ماد				
⊕ (x1) 13 Borehole 13	6.0	o allo allo allo allo allo allo allo allo				
⊕ ↔ (x1) 14 Borehole 14	7.0	n ate ate ate ate ate a ate ate ate ate ate				
🐵 📴 🔆 Default Borehole Set (2 boreholes)	8.0					
H / Fault Traces	8.0					
	- 9.0					
	L L ma					
Dip and Azimuth Measurements	10.0	101010101010101010		1	1	
✓ Associations created	<u>1</u>		Done			View Error Messages
			Conc.			view error messages

Intervals can be edited, inserted or deleted. Within an interval type track, right-click on the desired interval to see the available options (note, these options are also available on right-click in the tree):

	COLLAR HEIGHT: 14.5		PAGE: 1	
METRES DEPTH	LITHOLOGY	DEPTH	Description	LITHOS
- - - - - - - - - - - - - -		t Template Insert Int	rval [0.0m to 7.2m] erval Above erval Below erval Within terval	
9.0 -				

5.2.1 Editing an Interval

The top and base value for an interval can be edited and attributes can be amended, added or deleted:

Interval Properties	×			
Top/base depths [7.2m thick]				
Top (m): 0.000 🜩 ft/in				
Base (m): 7.200 🔶 ft/in				
Thickness (m): 7.200 🖨 ft/in				
Interval Attributes				
LITHOLOGY -> PEAT ~ Lookup Large Textbox				
Add/Delete Attribute				
OK Cancel				

To modify the top and/or base value, the up and down arrows can be used next to the values. Alternatively, a new value can be typed into the box. Amending the top or base automatically changes the thickness. The thickness can also be manually changed and doing this automatically changes the base. There are restrictions on what values can be entered, which ensure that any adjoin intervals cannot be completely consumed by the unit being edited. At least 1 cm of depth must remain in any adjoining interval, after the changes for the current interval take effect.

The default measurement type for the base, top and thickness values is metres. However, if the values are known in feet and inches, these can be entered using the ft/n button and they are then converted into metres, as all interval depth values are stored in metres.

Where editing the top or base values of an interval cause a gap to occur between the top or base values of the interval above or below, a dialogue box asks:

Fill gap	×
?	Do you want to adjust adjoining intervals to fill the gap(s)?
	<u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o

If *No* is selected, a gap is left in the Borehole Log. Otherwise the affected adjoining interval(s) is adjusted in order that there is no gap.

This only happens when a borehole is edited, not when a new interval is inserted. On an insert, it is assumed that no gap should be left - see below.

No overlapping areas are allowed within a borehole log. This means that if, say, an interval base depth is increased, the top depth for the interval below is also correspondingly increased.

Borehole intervals implement the concept of *flexible attribution*. This means that any attributes can be associated with an interval. Common attributes are Lithology, Lithostrat and

Description, but others can be used as required. Some attributes have dictionaries associated with them and can be used for lookup purposes. Where an associated dictionary exists, a *Lookup* button is provided, otherwise this button is disabled.

The lookup function allows various searching methods:

Dictionary lookup (LITHOLOGY)	×
Search: Type to search. Use * to show all entries	
Search by codes 🗹 Match start of word	
OK Cancel	

Where more space is required in order to input a value e.g. against a Description attribute, the *Large Textbox* button opens a new dialog box:

Enter valu	e		×
?	PEAT		
		OK Cancel	

New attributes can be added or existing attributes deleted by pressing the *Add/Delete Attributes* button:

List of Available Fields	\times			
Select which fields are required Available fields	_			
LITHOLOGY				
Note - un-selecting a field removes it from the Interval Properties				
New Field OK Cancel				

This gathers a list of all known attributes from all the loaded boreholes within the currently selected borehole data set. Any of these can be selected. Existing attributes can be deleted by de-selecting them from this panel.

If an attribute is required that does not exist in the list, pressing the *New Field* button opens a new dialogue, allowing a new attribute to be specified:

Name of	New Field		×
?	Name DESCRIPTION OK	Cancel	
	ailable Fields		×
Select whic Available LITHOLOO DESCRIP	GY	red	
	-selecting a field r e Interval Propert		
N	lew Field	OK Cancel	

In order for the new attribute to be saved against the interval, a value must be entered against it.

Interval Properties					×
Top/base depths [7	7.2m thick]				
Top (m):	0.000 ≑	ft/in			
Base (m):	7.200 🜩	ft/in			
Thickness (m):	7.200 🜩	ft/in			
Interval Attributes					
LITHOLOGY ->	PEAT	~	Lookup	Large Textbox	
DESCRIPTION		~	Lookup	Large Textbox	
Add/Delete Attribute					
OK Cancel					

5.2.2 Inserting a New Interval

Intervals can be inserted above, below, or within the currently selected intervals and there are rules as to how this can be done.

5.2.2.1 Insert Above



It is not possible to insert an interval above an interval that has a top value of 0. If this is required, the existing interval must first be edited to change the top value to a positive number.

Default top and base values are assigned to the new interval:
If the new interval is the first interval, the top value defaults to 0, otherwise the top value defaults to a value that is roughly half way into the interval above. The base value for the new interval defaults to the top value for the selected interval.

The top and base values can be amended, but the minimum and maximum limits that can be entered ensure that any interval above or below the new interval, retain a very small depth (currently set to 1cm), in order that they cannot be entirely wiped out.



5.2.2.2 Insert Below

There is no restriction on from which intervals new intervals can inserted below.

Default top and base values are assigned to the new interval:

The top value for the new interval always defaults to the base value for the selected interval.

If the new interval, is the last interval, the base value defaults to a value that would give the new interval the same thickness as the selected interval. Otherwise, the new interval will be given a base value that consumes roughly half the depth of the interval below.

As for insert above (see above) the top and base values can only be amended to values that will not result in adjoining intervals being totally consumed within the new interval i.e. at 1cm depth must be left in any adjoining interval.

5.2.2.3 INSERT WITHIN



This function assumes that the existing borehole interval needs to be divided into three equally sized chunks. The new interval sits in the middle third. The default values reflect this, but can be amended. As with the other two insert methods, a these minimum and maximum values that can be assigned to the top and base values ensure that a small interval remains both above and below the new interval, using the selected interval attributes.

5.2.3 **Delete an Interval**

When an interval is deleted, it is necessary to decide what to do with the area of the log that was occupied by the interval. Depending on where the interval is within the log, the following dialog will appear:

Select Fill (Option X
?	Delete Options Fill gap with unit above (MUDSTONE) Fill gap with unit below (SANDSTONE) Fill gap with equal shares of units above and below (MUDSTONE and SANDSTONE) Fill gap with generic rock ("ROCK")
	Leave a gap OK Cancel

If the interval being deleted is either the top or the bottom interval, not all these options will be available.

5.3 FILTERING

Data sets can be filtered interactively within Porcupine. The filters are under a *right-click* (*on the data set entry*) > *Filter dataset*.

5.3.1 **Remove Boreholes Without/With Logs**

These two options allow you to remove logs without logs (interpretations), or remove those with existing logs. The first is useful to filter out borehole records with no downhole data, the second is useful to see which borehole have yet to be interpreted.

5.3.2 Cascading Interpreter Filter

If the name of the interpreter is available within the borehole dataset, this presents a list of interpreter id's (i.e. geologist names or drillers names) on the left. Click on an entry to highlight it and use the *Copy to selection* >>> button to copy it to the selection list on the right. Build the selection list up in order of preference, with the preferred interpreter at the top of the list. To re-order the list, highlight an entry and use the *Move up* and *Move down* buttons. When you are happy with the selection click *Apply*.

🕼 Filter by interpreter name	×
Copy to selection >>>	Delete Move up Move down
HBU	HBU
MHSH	RTE
RTE	
SDORAN	
SJSE	
Apply	Cancel

The filter will use the list to filter the data set in Porcupine. For each borehole it will look for your preferred interpreters in list order – if the first one is available it will be used, otherwise the second, otherwise the third etc... If a borehole has no matching interpreter it will be deleted from the data set completely.

5.3.3 Cascading Project Code Filter

If the name of the project is available within the borehole data, this operates in the same way as the cascading interpreter filter, but uses the *CONTENT_CODE* field (a.k.a project name field) of the interpretation for the filtering.

5.3.4 Cascading Interpreter + Project Code Filter

This operates in the same way as the cascading interpreter filter, but filters by unique combination of *INTERPRETER* and *CONTENT_CODE*.

5.3.5 **Drilled Depth Filter**

This allows you to filter by *drilled depth* and can be applied either as a *more-than* or *less-than* filter depending whether you are interested in only deeper or shallower boreholes. The settings below would retain only those interpretations that have a drilled depth of 25m or more.

🛓 Drilled depth filter		
Filter type:	🔘 less than	more than
Drilled depth (m):		25 🔹
Apply	Cancel	

5.3.6 Lithostratigraphy Filter

This allows you to filter based on *lithostrat codes*. The unique list of lithostratigraphic coding is presented on the left and can be copied to the select on the right by selecting the entry and using the *Copy to selection* >>> button.

The order of the list on the right is not important, so there are no sorting options. The list is not cascading. Porcupine will use an OR test on this list when deciding whether to retain an interpretation – in the example below the filter would retain all interpretations that have CHALK GROUP *or* CRAG GROUP *or* LOWESTOFT FORMATION coded anywhere in them.



5.3.7 Confidentiality Filter

This allows you to filter on the *confidentiality code* of the borehole entry, if such a field is populated in the borehole data. There are 5 numeric codes:

Filter by confidentiality	
Copy to selection >>>	Delete Move up Move down
NOT APPLICABLE 1 - NO CONDITIONS APPLIED (NON-CONFIDENTIAL) 2 - PROTECT - MANAGEMENT (CONDITIONS APPLY) 3 - POSITION OF BORE AND NAME OF OWNER MAY BE GIVEN 4 - EXISTENCE OF BORE WITHIN AN AREA AND OWNERS NAME MAY BE GIVEN 5 - BGS WILL CONSULT OWNERS BEFORE ANY INFORMATION IS GIVEN	
Apply	Cancel

You can find the confidentiality of a particular borehole by *hovering* over it in the dataset tree and reading the tooltip that appears. Also, if a borehole is level 2 or 3 you will see an amber asterisk to the right of the log icon – if it is a level 4 or 5 the asterisk will be red.

The filter gives you the option to remove levels of confidentiality from the dataset. Simply select the levels you wish to *retain* and click *Apply*. For example, if you do not want any confidential boreholes in your dataset, only select "1 - NO CONDITIONS APPLIED (NON-CONFIDENTIAL)".

5.4 OTHER BOREHOLE FUNCTIONS

5.4.1 Filter Chaining

The filters can be applied successively against the same data set to refine it. For example, if you were only interested in having borehole interpretations with a drilled depth of more than 10m which have CRAG GROUP coded in them preferably by HBU but failing that by RTE then you could apply three successive filters to achieve this.

5.4.2 Populate Collar Heights Using Model Cap

This tool allows you to stamp in borehole collar heights (ground start heights) using elevation values taken directly from the grid layer that is currently set as the workspace model cap (usually a DEM or DTM grid, for example). This is useful if your borehole collar heights are missing or un-reliable. You can choose whether to copy new elevation values from the model cap into all boreholes in the dataset (thus over-writing any pre-existing elevation values in the boreholes), or to only populate model cap elevation values where the borehole has a missing collar height.



NOTE: Think carefully before copying in values from the model cap. This is a useful tool but could be confusing for onward users of the borehole data. If you are copying in collar heights so that the boreholes with missing elevations will render correctly in cross-section, consider using the Borehole Options dialog accessible via the Borehole Options button in the Settings tab to the right of each cross-section window, which allows you to set a policy for borehole collar heights that will not affect the borehole data directly.

🛓 Borehole Options	×			
Borehole Width:	20			
Textures required?				
Borehole labels required?				
Show strat instead of lith?				
Collar height	Use collar heights from log data 🗸 🗸			
Transparency %	Use collar heights from log data Use profile elevation for missing collar heights			
Iransparency %				

5.4.3 Copy/Rename Borehole Marker Attribute

This tool allows you to both rename and copy attributes on the borehole markers. This is useful if your imported data has a non-standard attribute name for a common field such as lithology, or if you need to set a specific field name for an export. The rename option will re-label the attribute, whereas the copy option will create a new attribute alongside the original.

🕼 Rename/Copy Borehole Marker Attribute	
Rename Copy Attribute MARKER_NAME	▼ To >> LITHOLOGY
OK	Cancel
Workspace	Workspace
🚍 🖓 🚰 Geological Objects	🖃 🗜 Geological Objects
🖶 🔶 Boreholes	
🖃 🔊 📷 simple.wl (1 boreholes)	🖃 🖓 🛄 simple.wl (1 boreholes)
	□ 1 NZ52SEBJ6(_)
10.0 [MARKER_NAME:A]	···→ 10.0 [LITHOLOGY:A]
→ 20.0 [MARKER_NAME:B]	····→ 20.0 [LITHOLOGY:B]
→ 30.0 [MARKER_NAME:C]	
→ 40.0 [MARKER_NAME:D]	
→ 50.0 [MARKER_NAME:E]	→ 50.0 [LITHOLOGY:E]

5.4.4 Merging Borehole Datasets

Borehole datasets can be retrieved from different sources for the same area, or from different areas, or a combination of these. They can then be merged together into a single dataset. Interpretation logs can be added post merging if necessary.



To merge click on 'Boreholes' and choose the merge option as below. Note that the merging process relies on having a unique Identifier which is available for each borehole record.



This merging process is most useful in bringing together different sources of data for a borehole: all interpretations are then brought together.

6 Context Menus

Some entries in the data tree have context menus attached to them, which are displayed when a right-click is made against the entry. Most items have the option to draw them in a map window. See section 3 for details on how to do this. The following paragraphs describe the context menus that are available for each object. If there is no description for a particular object, it is because they do not have any extra right click options, or because these options have been described elsewhere in this manual.

6.1 CROSS SECTIONS

Right clicking against an individual cross section gives the following menu:



6.1.1 View Cross Section

This option opens the selected cross-section in a cross-section window. Section 4 gives full details on how to use this window.

6.1.2 **Rename Cross-Section**

The following dialog box allows a new name to be specified for the cross-section:



6.1.3 Attach Image

Section Cross Section Window -> Attaching An Image of this manual describes this process.

6.1.4 Find Associated Boreholes

This function is available both at individual cross-section level and for all cross-sections.

It works by searching through all the boreholes loaded into the workspace to find any that have an id that matches the borehole id referenced in the section. It then searches for boreholes by proximity, to find any that are very close (i.e. have identical co-ordinates taking into account a small tolerance margin) to a borehole referenced in the section. Any boreholes that are found as being linked to the section(s) are associated with them and will display in the section window. The following message provides information on borehole associations that have been made/not made:

Boreho	les Attached
1	0 borehole(s) added to the workspace. 6 borehole(s) not added
	ОК

6.1.5 Export to GOCAD

This feature is identical to the project export described in section 8.3.2, but a PLine (.pl) is created for the cross-section which has been selected. The name and location of the file is specified via a file chooser.

6.2 CROPLINES

At cropline group level the following context menu is available:



6.2.1 Set As Drawing Code

Selecting this option sets the current drawing code to the code for the cropline group. This will mean that any new croplines or correlation lines that are drawn, will use this code until it is changed again.

6.3 FAULTS (MAPPED)

The following context menu is displayed for an individual mapped fault:



6.3.1 Re-Name Fault

This option is described in section 3.6.1

6.4 **DICTIONARIES**

6.4.1 Set as Coding Scheme

Changing which dictionary entry is the coding scheme changes the values which populate the values shown in the codes panel and which are linked to the legend file. This is the master list of rock layer codes used for digitizing in Groundhog.



6.5 SHAPES

In addition to the "View Shapes in Map" option, which is described in Section 3 of this manual, there are other functions which can be performed against loaded shape files:

6.5.1 View Attributes

This option displays a table with headings showing all the different types of attributes held for the shape file and, for each shape, the values for each of these:

Shape	BED_EQ	BED_EQ_D	BGSREF	1
MultiPolygon			925	9 🗖
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	925	9 [≡]
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	925	9
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	925	9
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	925	9
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5
MultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5 _
•				•

Highlighting one or more lines in the table, causes any corresponding displayed in a map window to be highlighted (in black):

shape	BED_EQ	BED_EQ_D	BGSREF		
luitiPolygon			925	- e	
luitiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5	
luitiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	925	9 =	
lultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323		
lultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5	
lultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5	Part Create Cross-Section
luitiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5	
lultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	925	9	255 3005 2
lultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	925	9	95 2 65 2
luitiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	925	9	1 mil for
lultiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5	TQ495W TQ498E TQ
luitiPolygon	NotAp	Not Applicable	323	5	gran E
e 💷				•	
stal number of sha	pes: 42; Number of Select	ted Shapes: 4	0	lear Selected	
100					
E Images			TQSINE		TOWNE TOWNE TO

Clicking on the button *Clear Selected* causes the highlighting to be removed.

6.5.2 Show/Hide by Attribute

This option opens a dialog box which allows filtering of the shapes that are drawn in the map window:

lect Attributes To Show	1			×
Copy to selection >>>		Delete	Move up	Move down
BGS-SANDU	•			
CLGB-CLAY				
CLGB-SACL				
CLGB-SANDU	=			
LC-CLAY				
LMBE-CLAY				
LMBE-SACL				
LMBE-SANCL	-			
	Apply	Cancel		

Highlighting the entry (or multiple entries) and clicking *Copy to selection* >>> moves the selected entries to the right hand side of the panel. The *Apply* button then removes all shapes from any displayed map windows which do not contain these values.

Select Attributes To Show		X
Copy to selection >>>		Delete Move up Move down
BGS-SANDU		LMBE-CLAY
CLGB-CLAY		
CLGB-SACL		
CLGB-SANDU	Ξ	
LC-CLAY		
LMBE-CLAY		
LMBE-SACL		
LMBE-SANCL	Ŧ	
Apply	/	Cancel

NB it is very easy to forget to click the *Copy to selection* >>> button. If clicking the *Apply* button removes all shapes from the map window, this is probably the cause.

6.5.3 **Turn Shape Fill Off/On**

If the shapes are already filled, this option will show as *Turn Shape Fill Off*, otherwise it will show as *Turn Shape Fill On*.

Session Interoperability Tools Ge	ology Help				
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULA					
		P			
Start Workspace (1) Codes Lo	ng View 🗮 Grids	m ×	Create Cross-		
Workspace		E C C CF SHOT	XX P B Create Create	Hector	5
Physical Properties Physical Properties Physical Contents Web Map Services Web Map Services Physical Arrows Web Map Services Physical Physicae Physica	he (***	702956	точки		100 TO 100
Spatial Coverages		By Attribute			
imagas 🖌		spes to Croplines sperty Used for Colouring is In Map +			
		TORVE	TORBAN	TQ481€	TQSBN
		SCOVER DE			
		X: 534444.24 Y: 189227.86 Z: [TQ3	8NW - TQ3489]		

Selecting this option, toggles the map window drawn option between fill and no fill. The screen print shown above shows the polygons as filled. The screen print below shows the same polygons not filled:

ssion Interoperability Tools Ge	eology Help				
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULA	ATE DATABASES				
	3 (Å)				
tert 🔨 Workspoce 👔 Codes 🖬 Lo	g View 🗮 Grids 🚺 m 🗙				
Workspace		0 40) SHAPE	🔳 📏 🖈 🥩 Create Cross-Se	ction	
Geological Objects Reference Objects					
A Physical Properties A Physical Constants Grid Coverages Web Map Services Web Distornaries			C		
Meshes V Shapes V Layers V Layers K Bodrock.s	Ag View Attributes	TQ996E	TQ40SW	TQ496E	S TQSRSW
Spatial Coverages Points	Show/hide By Attribute				
Images	Turn Shape Fill On				
	Convert Shapes to Cropli Change Property Used for View Shapes In Map	r Colouring			
		TQRIME	TQHRWN	TQ4IME	TQSBNM
	1680.00	L.			
	No. 604444	42 Y: 189296.07 Z: [TQ38	our - Tobean		

6.5.4 Convert Shapes to Croplines

This option opens a dialog box to enable the conversion requirements to be specified:

Shape to Cropline Converter		to per light the second second		_
Property LEX	Value	ALL 🗸	New Cropline Code	
		BGS		
		CLGB		
		LC		
		LMBE		
		WRB		
Start 🔨 Workspace 🏢 Codes 🖥 Log View 🗰 Grids	m ×			
	52.0	🕀 🖻 📣 SHAPE 🛛 🔲 📐 🗸	🖬 ⁺ Create Cross-Section	

The Property drop down list shows a list of all the property types held within the shape file. This is the property whose value will be used for selecting which shapes are to be converted.

The Value drop down list contains a list of all unique values held with the shape file for the property specified. The first option is *ALL*, which allows all shapes to be selected.

The New Cropline Code shows a drop down list of all rock codes currently specified within the dictionary. Alternatively a value can be entered here that does not currently exist. All Croplines will be created with this value as their rock code.

Bape to Cropline Converter		to be then the second second		X
Property LEX -	Value	BGS	New Cropline Code BGS-TR	•
		OK Cancel		



If *ALL* is selected from the Value drop down list, it is not possible to select or enter a value in this box. The cropline name, in this instance, will be the same as the property value held for the shape.

6.5.5 Change Property Used for Colouring

This option enables the colouring property which was selected, on loading the shape file, to be changed:



A dialog box allows the new property to be selected:

Choose	property						
?	Select the property that will be used to match and colour the shape using the legend						
	FM_EQ_D GP_EQ GP_EQ_D LEX						
	LEX_D LEX_RCS LEX_RCS_D						
	LEX_RCS_I LEX_ROCK MAX_AGE						
	OK Cancel						

The shapes are now shown in the map window with their new colours:

Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace	-	-	and the second		Contract of the local division of the local	1000		
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help								
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE DATABASES								
A A A A								
Start 🔨 Workspace 📓 Codes 🖥 Log View 🗰 Grids	\$	m :						
Workspace		\mathbb{N}	🛞 🔄 🐠 SHAPE		📏 📏 🖌 🧾 Create Cross-Se	ction		
🕀 🔛 Geological Objects						~ 3	N	
Reference Objects				-		$\left\{ \left\{ \left$		
A Physical Properties					\sim		2	
Grid Coverages					\cup		\leq	
🕀 🕒 Web Map Services						r mar	e som	
🕀 🏥 Dictionaries			TQ39SE		TQ49SW	TO492E	the	TQ595
V Shapes						dad	5-	
- √ Layers						8	~	
Iford_10k_Bedrock.shp (42 shapes)								
Spatial Coverages								
Points Images								
<u> </u>								
			TQ3BNE		TQ48NW	TQ48NE		TQ58N
				-				
		6380	Jm	1				
	- P		54474.25 Y: 188091.09 Z: [7	058NW	- T05488]	 		
	- F	A.						
2				_	Loading shapefile 100%		_	
2					2000 mg on openierne 200 /0			

6.5.6 Clipping Linework Using A Shape

This option can be useful when cleaning up legacy data, for example projects created in GSI3D or other mapping-type software. Currently there is no Undo function associated with this operation, so take care to keep a backup of your project in case you need to revert back to it.

First, draw a shape to use as the clipping path. There are two ways to do this;

- 1) For irregular clipping regions, draw region by hand as a shape and drag the two end nodes of that shape together to form a polygon,
- 2) For linear clipping regions, draw the linear route by hand as a shape (line), then use the buffer tool to create a polygon around that line.

With some linework (croplines) displayed in a map window, right-click on the shape in the map window and choose Use Shape As Cutting Path.



Click "Yes" to perform the clip.



Choose whether to discard portions of linework that lies outside the clip shape.



The croplines will be clipped. This function operates on the currently visible linework in the map window.

6.6 IMAGES

Individual images or entire folders of images can be loaded into the data tree.



sion lint	eroperability Tools Geolo	ду неір		
HOME	Import I	ASCII/Text Files (Generic)	•	
	Export I	GIS	•	2D ASCII Grid (*.asc)
	Web Services (API's)	GOCAD	•	Image [Including Geo-Registered Images]
		GSIBD	12	 Shapefile (*.shp)

Loaded images appear in the object tree under *Reference Objects > Images*. Right-clicking against an image in the tree gives the following menu.



Double-clicking the image in the tree, or selecting the *Preview Image* option from the context menu displays a window containing the image.



6.6.1 Automatic Image Caching

When a project is saved out from Groundhog any image references will be cached into a subfolder called LINKED_DATA_CACHE. This ensures you still have access to referenced images even if you are working 'offline' and your images are on a corporate network. If the original is available it will always be used preferentially, but if it cannot be accessed the cached version will be loaded instead.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
📙 LINKED_DATA_CACHE	19/07/2016 15:18	File folder	
Sample Project 1.gop	19/07/2016 15:18	GOP File	1 KB

6.6.2 Setting Image Transparency

The transparency of an image can be adjusted in the map window via the control panel to the right. Under *Objects*, expand *Other Objects* and choose *right-click* > *Settings* on the desired image. Use the slider to adjust the transparency value.



6.6.3 Interactive Image Geo-Registration

If the image is already geo-registered, selecting *Change Image Co-ordinates* allows the previously registered co-ordinates for an image to be changed, or if the image is not already geo-registered, it allows them to be entered.

Select S	patial Extent	×
?	Please enter co-o	rdinates for spatial extent required
	Top Left X:	400000.0
	Top Left Y:	400000.0
	Bottom Right X:	501394.0
	Bottom Right Y:	300227.0
	ОК	Cancel

Selecting *View Image In Map* allows an existing map window or a new map window to be selected. If the image is geo-registered, it will then be displayed in the chosen map window. If the image is not geo-registered, the following dialog is shown.

Geo-Register Image	X
This image is not geo-registered, what would you like to do? . If you choose the first option, you can s	till edit the registration afterwards.".
Register the image by entering map coordinates Manually register the image in the map interactively	Cancel

Choosing the first option, displays the following dialog window.

Select S	patial Extent	
?	Please enter co-ordinates for spatial extent required	
	Top Left X:	
	Top Left Y:	
	Bottom Right X:	
	Bottom Right Y:	
	ОК	

This enables the top left and bottom right co-ordinates of the image to be entered by typing known values in.

Choosing the 2^{nd} option, *Manually register the image in the map interactively*, places the image approximately within the current visible map window extent. If a map window is not open, a message will request that this is done first.

Area Select		X
A Ple	ease zoom into the required area on the map before selecting this o	option
	ОК	

IMPORTANT: Note that any geo-registration information entered within Groundhog will be automatically saved out as a worldfile alongside both the original image (if write permissions are available) and in the Groundhog image cache folder when you save your project.

Once placed in the map window, images can be moved or resized. In the map window each image has a detectable region in the top left and bottom right corner. Hover the mouse in either corner to see handles for these regions (blue squares). When the mouse is over a detectable region the mouse cursor changes and the image border is highlighted in black..



Right-click in either corner region and select *Change Image Co-ordinates* from the pop-up menu to manually edit the geo-registration values.

Alternatively, register the image interactively. The top-left handle can re-position the image – hold down the left mouse button and move the mouse to drag the image. The lower-right handle can re-size the image – hold the left mouse button and move the mouse to stretch the image. In stretching mode the image retains its aspect ratio by default; to over-ride this, hold down the CTRL key.

Re-position



Stretch (maintain aspect)



Stretch (CTRL key over-rides aspect)



6.7 MULTIPLE SELECTION

It is possible to select more than one object in the Data Tree by holding down the SHIFT or CTRL keys as you select an object. This changes the colour of each selected object name to cyan:



If there are multiple selections under a heading e.g. Cross Sections, a context menu becomes available, which allows actions to be performed against the objects selected:



These options are Delete objects, De-select Objects, Invert Selection and View in Map.

7 Workflows

7.1 FAULT CONSTRUCTION

Faults can be constructed in both map and cross-section as fault linework. Where fault linework is created in the map these are referred to as **Fault Trace** objects; where fault linework is created in cross-section these are referred to as **Fault Stick** objects. Fault information is also attached to some map **croplines** and cross-section **correlation lines**.

7.1.1 Fault Traces

Fault traces represent the top of a fault plane in the map as a simple line. These lines serve mainly as a reference to the surface or subsurface expression of the top of the fault plane, and are used to associate a series of fault sticks together from cross-sections.

To draw a fault trace, pick the **Fault** code from the lower panel in the object tree **Codes** tab and use the pen or digitizing drawing tools to construct the line on the map.





Fault trace networks can be constructed by snapping fault trace lines together. Simply drag the end node of a fault trace towards the other trace.



7.1.2 Fault Sticks

Fault sticks represent the fault plane in cross-section. They are constructed much like a normal correlation line. To draw a fault stick, pick the **Fault** code from the lower panel in the object tree **Codes** tab and use the pen or digitizing drawing tools to construct the line in the cross-section.

	3QCO-COAL (THREEQUARTERS COAL (SOUTH
	3QCW-COAL (THREE QUARTERS COAL (WARW 👻
<	•
Lines	
Fault	
Profile	
Shape	

Positions where fault traces cross the section are shown as dashed vertical markers. This aids you in positioning of fault sticks to tie-in with the map traces.



Drag the top node of the fault stick towards the vertical marker to snap it.



Note that fault sticks do not have to come up to the terrain profile – they can terminate within horizons. In the map view the top node of a fault stick is shown as a dot. If the stick reaches the terrain profile the dot will be red, if it terminates at depth it will be orange.



Once fault sticks are constructed, correlation lines can be snapped to them, as described in general editing in the main Cross-Section Window part of this manual.

7.1.3 Fault-attributed Croplines

Croplines can honour faults in two ways;

7.1.3.1 1 - SNAP TO FAULT TRACE

Croplines can be snapped to fault traces in the map. This is not always desirable, depending on the nature of the geology however. Two scenarios where it *does* make geological sense are;

- 1) Where the fault plane is exactly vertical,
- 2) Where the fault comes to the surface **and** the cropline is at outcrop.



7.1.3.2 2 – Construct Fault Crop

Where the cropline runs into the fault plane at depth it often makes no geometric sense to snap the cropline to the fault trace, especially if the fault plane is non-vertical. In these cases, construct a cropline to represent the crop of the horizon on the fault plane.

Consider the following map;

Sketch the "fault crop" as two additional lines (implies the fault is dipping to the South East in this example)



Join the croplines together by dragging their end nodes together.

Right click on the cropline segments which run along the fault crop and choose **Add Fault Crop Attribute**. This flags the cropline as a "*fault crop*" – note that for this approach to work the croplines on the fault crop must be separate objects – if necessary, split down existing croplines to achieve this.



Fault crop attributed cropline shows with red nodes to indicate fault crop;



Completed linework for the blue horizon, showing two segments of fault crop (hangingwall and footwall crops), two other segments of normal cropline. Presence side seeds have been set here too (refer to editing croplines general section in the manual for more detail);



Repeat for other horizons.



If you need to drag the end of a cropline across a fault trace without it snapping, hold down the CTRL key as you drag.

7.1.4 Fault-attributed Correlation lines

By snapping correlation lines to fault sticks in section you can start to build up the relationships and throws on the fault planes.



Three sections above displayed as 3D linework in SKUA-GOCAD;



8 Interoperability

8.1 IMPORTING PROJECTS FROM GSI3D

Groundhog currently has no direct support for loading directly from GSI3D, and a conversion of the data is therefore required. For advice on how the conversion can be done please contact groundhog@bgs.ac.uk

8.2 IMPORT

All the imports described below are selected via the import menu, which is reached by selecting *Interoperability* > *Import*.

8.2.1 **2D ASCII Grid (*.asc)**

This import function allows a different 2D ASCII Grid to be loaded into the work area. Selecting this option from the menu, provides a *Select grid file for import* dialog box which allows the grid file to be found and selected.

Once the grid has loaded, it can be found in the tree structure, under *Reference Objects* > *Grid Coverages*. To set it as the model cap, right click on it and select *Set As 'Model Cap'*.

8.2.2 Import Geological Sequence From Spreadsheet

This import function allows a Geological Sequence (stratigraphy) file to be loaded into the work area. Selecting this option from the menu, provides an *Open geological sequence file* dialog box which allows the stratigraphy file to be found and selected. The stratigraphy is not directly used for anything at the moment, but could be a useful reference.

Once the file is loaded, the information can be found in the tree structure, under *Geological Objects* > *Geological Sequence*

Groundhog Desktop GSIS	Targeton - Monard Mag	
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help		
DATA DRAW CALCULATE CHECK		
📂 📔 🖪 bil farh		
Workspace Cades Log View E Grids	1 = X	
Workspace		4
Cross-Sections		m Objects m Setting
(ii) Av Cropines		The Cross-Sections
Boreholes		Tropines
Fold Axes		
-X Dip and Strike Measurements Structure Contours		The Boreholes
Modelled Objects	00000	
Stratigraphy	X: 585670.11 Y: 269463.71 Z:	
- BSA	by by an 3 ×	
	Vertical Desperator 1.0 • 🖸 🕢 🔊 🔊	
LOFT	Profile source: FROM XML FILE	t tota
- LOPS - LOS		* Ingha
- E R25G		Correlated 6 All units
- OHMNEL ISG	³²	bes Man Urb Other
- C C C	3 8 8 8 ° 8 ° 8 ° 8 ° 8 ° 8 ° 8 ° 8 ° 8	182
ili 🖬 Raference Objects		Other
V	S, Dool Ingham Ingham Ng Dool	
	W: 228.00 Z: 129.18 X: 584352.37 Y: 269232.37	
1	ata ingham 27032015.gop loaded Load complete	10%

The import supports a simple list, which is a spreadsheet with a single column listing the sequence (strat) codes, or a hierarchical sequence via the use of multiple columns.

	General ·	w View Styles y Cells		Workspace Godes Log View Grids	
	SOIL C D	E		Croplines Boreholes Faults Fold Axes Do and Strike Measurements Structure Contours Modelled Objects Stratigraphy Soll BSA HEAD LOFT LGFS LGS RISG Strat RISG Reference Objects	
Simple stratigraphic sequence					



137

8.2.3 Shapefile (*.shp)

This import function allows an ESRI style shape file to be loaded into the workspace. The *Load Shape File* dialog box allows the shape file to be selected. It is only necessary to specify the .shp file here. Provided the other associated files (e.g. .sbn, .prj, .sbx, .dbf and .shx etc..) are held in the same folder, they will also be utilised by the load process.

After selecting the file, another dialog box allows the choosing of the property to be specified for colouring the shape polygons. These are simply the fields from the shapefile attribute table.



If a property is chosen which holds values which can be found in the dictionary and legend files, the shape polygons will be coloured, when they are drawn in the map window, according to this value.

Once the shape file has been loaded, a dialog box confirms this:

The shape file data was loaded into the data tree.	Shapes	Loaded	۲.
	0		ee.

The shape file can now be seen in the data tree:

Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace	Contractor of
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help	
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE DATABASES	
Start 🔨 Workspace 🏨 Codes 🗄 Log View 🗰 Grids	\$
Workspace	
🗄 🛃 Geological Objects	
😑 🗄 Reference Objects	
- A Physical Properties	
- 🖉 Physical Constants	
Grid Coverages	
🕀 🌑 Web Map Services	
🕀 🏥 Dictionaries	
- A Hoones	
⊖ V Shapes	
⊟-1 Layers	
Spatial Coverages	
Points	A.
Images	

There are now a number of right-click options which can enable viewing and manipulation of the shapes. Refer to the **Shapes** section of this manual for details of the context-menus available for working with shape data (**Section 6.5**).

8.2.4 Import GOCAD TSurf (*.ts) File

This import function allows a TSurf file to be loaded into the work area. Selecting this option from the menu, provides a *Load GOCAD TSurf file* dialog box which allows the TSurf file to be found and selected.

Once the file is loaded, it can be found in the tree structure, under *Reference Objects* > Meshes.

8.2.5 Import Well Log Data (*.las)

This import function allows a LAS file to be loaded into the work area. Selecting this option provides a *Load LAS File* dialog box, which allows a LAS file to be found and selected.

This load can take a little time to run, so following selection of the file full functionality of Groundhog Desktop is restored, but the LAS file may be still be loading for a time. A message is displayed in the bottom left corner of the window, whilst the load is taking place.



On completion of the load, the following box is shown:



Las data is stored as a series of "pick based" boreholes within Groundhog Desktop. Once loaded, it can be viewed in the tree structure, under *Geological Objects* > *Boreholes*.

Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help DATA DRAW (CALCULATE CHECK Workspace Codes Log View Workspace Codes Log View Workspace Codes Log View Workspace Codes Log View Workspace Codes Log View Codes Log View C		
Workspace OS Open Data DTM 50m Workspace Codes Log View Workspace Coss Sections		
Workspace Image: Codes Log View Workspace Image: Codes Ima		
Workspace Workspace Cross-Sections Cross-S		
B Shallow Laterolog ReastNHY(LLS.OHMM) B Buk Denstly(RHOB.G/CC) B Seleveni liteutro rosetly(SHP.%) B Seleveni liteutro rosetly(SHP.%) B Seleveni liteutro rosetly(SHP.%) Fault Southaneous Potential(SP.mv) Fault Cological Selevence Modelled Objects Geological Sequence Reference Objects	**	
√ File 'E\\bs files\36_23_1.LAS' loaded.		View Error M

Individual measurements can be seen by expanding the items using the + signs. They can also be seen as curve diagrams, by right clicking against an entry and selecting *View In Porcupine Document*. This is described in more detail in the Log View section of this manual.

8.2.6 Borehole Data (*.dat)

This option enables borehole files to be loaded using any text-based, tab separated format. The files may or may not contain column headings. On selecting this menu option, a dialog box requests information about the files to be loaded:

Import Borehole Data					
Borehole Index/Collar			Borehole Log Data		
		Browse		Browse	
Borehole ID	•		Borehole ID		
Name			Marker Depth		
Collar Height	•		Lithology		
х	•		Lithostratigraphy		
Y			Chronostratigraphy		
Description			Description	•	
Logs are interval based OK Cancel					

The **Borehole Index/Collar** file should contain at least an identifier for the borehole, a collar height (start height) in metres relative to O.D/sea-level or site datum, an easting (X) and a northing (Y). Here is an example file with a header line;

ID START_H EAST NORTH

1 10.2 206783 345165

The **Borehole Log Data** file should contain at least an identifier for the borehole (i.e. ones that will match with the identifiers from the index file), a marker depth (base of layer) as a "drilled-depth" (i.e. relative to the collar height), and some form of geological coding value (lithology
and/or lithostrat). The file should contain one row per-marker/horizon. Here is an example file with a header line which specifies two markers associated with borhole "1";

 ID
 D_DEPTH
 LITH

 1
 2.4
 SAND

 1
 3.2
 CLAY

If all of your data is in a single file simply pick the same file twice. A combined data file must contain one row per-marker/horizon, meaning the index data will be duplicated if the log has multiple markers, e.g.

ID	START_H	EAST	NORTH	D_DEPTH	LITH
1	10.2	206783	345165	2.4	SAND
1	10.2	206783	345165	3.2	CLAY

On supplying a file name for either file, the following dialog box, with the first line of data from the file, is shown:

Is the first line the column headers?											
IQ2000_001	584557	269199	27.93								
	<u>Y</u> es	<u>N</u> o]								

In this case, the answer would be *No* (the first line is clearly data), but a file can be loaded which does have column headings.

Once the information has been supplied, the dialog box looks something like this:

Import Borehole Da	ta		X
Borehole Index/Collar		Borehole Log Data	
E:\GSI3D\Ingham\Inghar	n_BH_sobi.bid Browse	E:\GSI3D\Ingham\Inghar	mBH_boge.blg Browse
Borehole ID	COLUMN 1	Borehole ID	HoleId
Name	NOT SPECIFIED -	Marker Depth	_ Depth
Collar Height	COLUMN 4	Lithology	Lithology
x	COLUMN 2	Lithostratigraphy	Lithostrat 💌
Y	COLUMN 3	Chronostratigraphy	NOT SPECIFIED V
Description	NOT SPECIFIED -	Description	NOT SPECIFIED -
	ogs are interval bas	ed OK Cancel	

The Index data file used here has no header, so the columns are selected by their number. The Borehole Log Data file used here did contain headers, so these header names were used to specify which column holds which data. Any columns not present in the data file, or not desired for the import should be left as "NOT SPECIFIED".

Note the tick in the box *Logs are interval based*. It is important to tick this, where appropriate, if the log data is really a range from the previous depth to the current depth, denoting one horizon.

Once the borehole data has been loaded, it can be found under *Geological Objects* > *Boreholes*.



Individual logs can be viewed, by expanding the + signs. Boreholes can also be shown in one or more map windows or viewed using the Log Viewer. If boreholes are used to construct a new line-of-section, they will also appear in the section window. When the project is saved the borehole data will be saved to the XML data files for the project.

8.2.7 Import Colours

Additional legend colours can be loaded using this import option. The default file type is a .dat file and it should be tab-separated. The format is, as shown here i.e. [NAME RED GREEN BLUE]:

9		• (°' •) •			-	ingham.	dat - Micros	oft Excel					_ 0	X
	Home	Insert P	age Layout	Formulas	Data R	eview Vi	iew						0 -	⊂ x
Pas	- 6		11 · A		= <mark>=</mark> »··		General	• 00. 0.+ 0.€ 00.	B Conditions B Format a Cell Style		ia Insert Image: Porma	-	Sort & Fin Filter * Sele	
Clipb	oard 🖻	Fon	t	Gi .	Alignment	Gi.	Numbe	er 🕞		Styles	Cells		Editing	
	H10	•	f_{x}											¥
	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I.	J	К	L	М	
1	DTM	255	255	255										
2	ALV	229	255	67										
3	BSA	185	100	60										
4	BRK	77	81	255										
5	CCG	165	107	51										
6	CFB	211	195	1										
7	CFC	98	140	166										_
	CK	115	255	115										
	DRFT	185	185	185					-					
	GCH	200	170	195					ļ					
	GLT	50	110	255										
	GSG	229	147	195										
	GFDU	229	147	195										
	GFDUA	229	147	195										
15		77 ham v1 🥂	Q1	255				1	1					
Read											I 100% (Э		÷.

Once the file has been loaded, the following message is displayed:

Data Lo	aded	X
1	The colours were loaded	l
	ОК	

A GSI3D .gleg file, with the standard layout, can also be loaded directly using this import.

8.2.8 Import GSI3D Projects

You can import GSI3D project files (*.GSIPR), legend files (*.GLEG) and stratigraphy files (*.GVS) via the GSI3D import menu. The importer may also work with certain versions of other INSIGHT GmbH products, such as the SubSurface Viewer.

Interoperability > Import > GSI3D

If you need to import borehole data from GSI3D format data filesd (*.BID, *.BLG), use the generic borehole import option.

Interoperability > Import > GSI3D > Borehole Data

When importing projesct (*.GSIPR), Groundhog gives you the option to auto-snap, where possible. This will generate snap nodes where correlation lines meet, or are close by. Groundhog allows you to specify a tolerance for the snapping, in metres. A value of 0.5m is a good default value for projects which have been previously cleaned up in GSI3D.

Note that the GSIPR importer only imports linework, it does not bring in any TIN data, linked shapefiles, or linked images etc. If you need to import these, use the individual import options for these formats. For TIN meshes, first export from GSI3D and a GOCAD Tsurf file, which can then be imported into Groundhog.

Because of the nature of GSI3D-style projects, imported croplines are likely to have portions of project boundary incorporated into them. To clip these away, use the clipping capability of Groundhog "Shapes" – refer to the section "Clipping Linework Using A Shape" within this manual. If you do not have the project boundary available, consider importing the project TIN as a GOCAD TSurf import, which will create a boundary object (Shape) that can be used for the clipping.

8.3 EXPORT

8.3.1 Export Project To GSI3D Format

This export enables the currently loaded Groundhog Desktop workspace to a GSI3D v2013 format .gsipr file. On selecting this option, a *Save Export to GSI3D Project File* dialog box allows the output destination and file name to be specified.

A dialogue box then offers three options for how the file is to be created:

Select Ty	ype of *.GSIPR Export Required
?	Export Type
	Export Current Groundhog Desktop Workspace 'As-Is' To New GSIPR File
	Choose An Existing GSIPR File With Which To Merge The Groundhog Desktop Workspace, And Export Result To New GSIPR File Choose A 'Loaded Project' From Groundhog Desktop Workspace, Merging With Any Available S: Drive Data For The 'Project', And Export Result To New GSIPR File
	OK Cancel

The first option creates a .gsipr file, containing only the information held within the loaded data in Groundhog Desktop. This will mean that some project information, for example project file names such as the .gvs file, will be missing from the .gsipr file and will need to be supplied when the project is loaded into GSI3D.

Option 2 requests an existing .gsipr file to be specified using the *Open Existing GSI3D Project File* dialog box. This will then merge some project information e.g. the .gvs file name and location, with the Groundhog Desktop data to create a new file containing all this information.

Option 3 – this option should be ignored for now, as it will only become relevant once the Geological Object Store (GOS) is available;

Once the file has been created, the following message is displayed:



8.3.2 Export Project To GOCAD Format

This option provides the *Select A Folder To Export To* dialog box, which enables a file location to be specified. This export currently supports only the cross-sections. Map and borehole are still in development.

One Pline (*.pl) format file is created for each Cross Section loaded into the current workspace. These are placed in the location that has been specified. If files already exist in the given location with the same names as the ones produced by this function, they are overwritten by the new files.

At the moment this export only operates on the cross-section objects and not on the map linework – this second feature is in development.

9 APPENDIX A – Quick Start Guide

9.1 HELPDESK

Please email groundhog@bgs.ac.uk for general assistance.

BGS offers training, custom software development, integration services and geological consultancy services in relation to the use of the Groundhog Desktop software. For all enquiries please contact groundhog@bgs.ac.uk

9.2 INSTALL & USE

Double-click **setup.exe** and follow the wizard, accepting all defaults. Start the software from the Programs menu or from the desktop shortcut. When Groundhog starts you will see this screen.

Select A Groundhog Workspace
Groundhog stores your global session resources in a folder called a Workspace.
Just use DEFAULT, or pick a custom workspace, and click OK to proceed.
*** YOUR CURRENT DEFAULT FOLDER IS E:\WORKSPACE_DEFAULT_EXTERNAL ***
Advanced users: Click New to create a new (custom) Workspace.
For more details, please refer to the User Manual.
Workspace
DEFAULT
OK Delete Sew

Just click *OK* to get started. You do not need to create your own workspace at this stage, so just leave *DEFAULT* selected. If you cannot see DEFAULT listed, please restart the software. If it still does not appear, first try re-installing the software before contacting groundhog@bgs.ac.uk for advice.

The user interface appears like this. Groundhog always starts up empty, expecting you to either load an existing project or start a new one.

Choose DTM and switch on topo map here



9.3 MAPS

Open a new map window. Give it a name when prompted.

🗗 Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace									
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help									
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE									

Scale to full extent.



UK coastline and placenames appear, or if you are working in an empty workspace, the map window will just be blank. You can configure your own outline map by setting up your own workspace – refer to the Workspaces and Special Files sections of the main user manual.



To switch off the UK outline, un-check Boundary in the map window toolbar.

1 X				
	\$	N	4	🚰 + Create Cross-Sectior 📝 Boundary

This will switch the view to a generic grid overlay, with thicker black lines through the origin [0,0]. Note that the grid cells switch size as you zoom in and out to assist with positioning of data.



Hide grid completely using Show Local Grid checkbox in map window Settings panel.



Navigate as-per google maps etc – i.e. hold left mouse button to pan, use scroll wheel to zoom. **IMPORTANT:** If you have no mouse wheel, or your wheel is not reliable, consider replacing your mouse as this will make Groundhog much easier to navigate.

Switch on standard UK topo basemap, if desired.



Map appears. Note that it re-scales based on zoom level. When new maps are loading there may be a slight delay (depending on speed of internet connection).



If working offline, zoom into the area you'll be working on whilst you have an internet connection to cache the map data, then check on *Cache Only* when working offline.

SETTIN	GS DRAW	CALCULATE	DATABASES			
ig Layer:	OS Open D	ata DTM 50m		Basemap:	OS_Open_Carto_2 👻	🔽 Cache only

Note: The basemap is served from a 3rd party service via the internet. If you experience difficulty accessing these maps this may be due to your organization's IT policy or firewall settings, or a change in the availability of the web service. In such cases, please refer to your local network administrator for advice.

9.4 IMAGES

Images can be imported and, if geo-registered, viewed in the map window. Images can also be interactively added to cross-section windows. You can import an image by browsing for a file, or by dragging the file into the Groundhog window – you can also drag images off web pages by dragging them into the Groundhog window.

To drag an image, drag the file icon from the desktop or folder, or drag the image from the webpage, and release the mouse when hovering over the Groundhog window.



To import an image, select the import data tool.

🛃 Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace									
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help									
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE									

Highlight *Images* and click OK.

S Import Data	x
Import images, including geo-registered images.	
From Databases 🔠 From Files 🕒 From Web Services	
Ascii Grid (*.ASC)	
Borehole Data	
Images 1	
کے Well Log Data (*.LAS)	

In the option box that appears, click *Single Image*.

Data retr	Data retrieval mode 🛛 💌						
?	Which retrieval mode would you like to use?						
	Single Image Image Folder						

Browse for the required image on your computer. By default, this file chooser expects JPEG. If your images are in PNG format, be sure to choose *All Files* in the *Files of type* dropdown to make them visible.

🛃 Open Image Fi	2		×
Look <u>i</u> n:	🕕 Images	- 🦻 📂 🗄	•
Recent Items	 Thurrock.jgw Thurrock.jpg Thurrock_geolall.jgw Thurrock_geolall.jpg Thurrock_geol.jgw Thurrock_geol.jpg 		
	File <u>n</u> ame: Thurrock.jpg Files of <u>type</u> : All Files		<u>Open</u> Cancel

The image will now appear under *Reference Objects > Images* in the tree.



If the image is geo-registered, to view the image in the map window, right click on it in the tree and select *View Image in Map*. The image can be viewed in an existing map window (if available) or in a new map window.

🖶 💽 Image	s							
Thurro	Thurrock.ipa [Geo-Reaistered]							
		Preview Image						
		Change Image Co-ordinates						
	۲	View Image In Map	E	New Map Window				
		Delete from Workspace	Γ					
		Name Cancel						
	UK	Cancer						

Zoom and pan the window to view the image. Access transparency slider via *Right-Click* > *Settings* in the *Other Objects* list in the object panel to the right.



Note: A GIS software application can be used to produce a geo-registered image, such as the one shown above. For example, in ArcMap, use *File > Export Map* and make sure to check on the world file option.

Save in:	🎒 hke		0 0 🕫 🖂 -	a
(Ale	Name	·	Date modified	Туре
ecent Places	Dakha DerbyCC EA_Training flyer GWIevels obsolete	ı	01/02/2017 10:24 01/02/2017 11:02 24/02/2017 11:02 09/02/2017 08:54 24/02/2017 09:58 09/12/2016 09:33	File folder File folder File folder File folder File folder
Network	<	TO TO PO		• Save
	Save as type:	JPEG (* jog)	•	Cancel
2 Options				
ieneral Format	1			
Resolution:	130	0 dpi		
Mdth:	1452	pixels		
leight:	971	pixels		
Vite World F	ile.	ArcMap) Wind	ow

Images can also be displayed in a cross-section window and used as reference or to digitize over. The following example uses an image taken from the Thurrock model using the BGS online virtual cross-section tool.

http://www.bgs.ac.uk/services/3Dgeology/virtualBoreholeViewer.html

First, load the image into Groundhog, as described above. Right-click on the desired cross-section entry in the tree and select *Tools > Associate/Disassociate Image*.



In the selection dialog, highlight the desired image, and click Associate.

🔊 Select Image		
thurrock_syn_section.PNG		an a
Associate Disas	ssociate Cancel	

The image appears in the cross-section view.



Use the drag (top-left corner) and re-size (lower-right corner) handles (blue rectangles) to position and scale the image.



9.5 BOREHOLES

Enter borehole data interactively, or import borehole data from a comma or tab-separated text file. Groundhog cannot read spreadsheet formats directly, but the data can be entered into a spreadsheet and then saved out as text files. The ordering and naming of the data columns is flexible, an example format is shown below. Note that each row in this table is one interval of data, and a complete borehole log is lilely to take up several rows.

	ID	x	Y	START Z	LITHOLOGY	тор	BASE	
This is 1	BH_1	245698	105669	27.8	SAND	0	12.5	1 Borehole Interval
Borehole	BH_1	245698	105669	27.8	SILT	12.5	27.2	
	BH_2	250558	115557	35.4	MADE GROUND	0	19.4	
	BH_2	250558	115557	35.4	CLAY	19.4	22.9	

Typically, the records entered into this spreadsheet are input from driller's logs. Good examples of these can be found on the BGS Geology of Britain Viewer (web search for "Geology of Britain Viewer") using the Borehole Scans theme. The map interface allows the records to be explored and hyperlinks from each location allow access to the scanned driller's log.



Example scanned driller's log.

(Rimse)	British Geological Surve		L	British Ge	eological Su	irvey	Site CTRL GI DATA - Entire NDATA19 data set	Survey	rehole mber 7709
Boring Met	hod	Diamete	ər		Ground	Level (mOD)	Client	Job	
Cable Perci	ussion					1.08	UR/LCE		mber sue 1
		Locatio	n		Dates	/04/1997	Engineer	She	et
		55	7954 E 1	76959 N		104/1301	RLE	1	1/2
Depth (m)	Sample / Teste	Casing Depth (m)	Water Depth (m)	Field Records	Level (mOD)	Depth (III) (Thickness)	cal Survey Description	British Geolo Liege	Water
							CONCRETE		
					0.86	(0.22) 0.22 (0.28)	Firm to stiff brown sandy gravelly CLAY with so (MADE GROUND - CLAY)	me cobbles.	
					0.58	(0.35)	Medium dense white angular to subangular GF chalk. (MADE GROUND - GRAVEL)	AVEL of	
					0.23	0.85	Firm to stiff brown sandy gravelly CLAY with so and occasional bricks and brick fragments. (MA	ome cobbles	
British Geolo	cical Survey			British Ge	ological Su	Tey	GROUND - CLAY) British Geological	Survey	
1.50-1.95	U1			70 blows		(1.65)			
2.00-2.00 2.00-2.45	D2 U3			40 blows		1		· · ·	
2.50-2.50 2.50-2.95	D4 U5			30 blows	-1.42	2.50	Soft brown slightly gravelly CLAY with occasion of black organic silt. (ALLUVIUM - CLAY)	nal laminae	-
3.00-3.00 3.00-3.45	D6 U7 British Geolog	ii al Survey		30 blows		Eritish Geolog	cal Survey	British Geological S	Survey
3.50-3.50 3.50-3.95	D8 U9		-	10 blows	-2.42	3.50	Spongy brown fibrous PEAT with occasional th soft clay. (ALLUVIUM - PEAT)	in bands of	-
4.00-4.00 4.00-4.30 4.00-4.45	D10 B14 U11			15 blows		n haara			
4.50-4.50	D12					-			Y

9.5.1 Entering Borehole Data Interactively

Click the *Create a new borehole object* link in the Welcome screen.

Start 🔨 Workspace 🕅 Codes



Enter as much information as you wish into the collar data dialog, such as a name, [X,Y] position, start elevation, etc. If you do not have this information, just click **OK** to accept the defaults (you can edit these values at any time later on).

Borehole Collar		
Name	BH_123	
ID	UNSPECIFIED	<<< Generate ID
x	0.0	
Y	0.0	
Start	12.7	<<< Set from Model Cap
	OK Cancel	

Select a template. Groundhog includes a basic template, but you can also design your own – refer to the log template section of the main user manual for details.

Select Te	×	
?	Select Template Basic	•
	OK Cancel	

The borehole log will be displayed and can be worked on. By default the log for the borehole will be allocated a 1m interval of SAND as an initial state, which can then be edited, using the right-click options, as required. These log editing options are also available by right-clicking on the log intervals in the main object tree.



🖶 🔶 Boreholes						
🖻 🦻 🔶 Default Borehole Set (1 bore	eholes)				
Attributes						
Geometry [1 vertex]						
🖃 📲 GEOLOGY [LOG:LOG]						
🕀 🛐 0.0 to 1.0m LITH	OLOG	Y = SAND1				
		Set Attribute				
		Edit Interval				
	f	Insert Interval Above				
	<u> </u>	Insert Interval Below				
Structure Contours	₩.	Insert Interval Within				
	÷.	Delete Interval				
Geological Sequence						

Build up the log by adding intervals by depth.



9.5.2 Importing Borehole Data From a File

Import the borehole data from the delimited text file.

HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE
Si Import Data
<pre>Import borehole data from a delimited text file (*.csv, *.dat, *.txt, *. bid).</pre>
l From Files
Ascii Grid (*.ASC)
Borehole Data
Tree Images
کے Well Log Data (*.LAS)

Browse for data file(s). If collar data and log data are in separate files, browse for the collar file in the left-hand panel, and browse for the log file in the right-hand panel. If all data is in a single file, pick the same file in both panels. Once loaded, use the drop-down controls to map each field to the appropriate data column.

f all your data is in one	file, load the same file into both panels.			
orehole Index/Collar		Borehole Log Data		
W:\Scratch\hke\EA_Training\10 Training Boreholes.txt Browse		wse W:\Scratch\hke\EA_Trai	ning\10 Training Boreholes.txt	Browse
Borehole ID	ID 🔹	Borehole ID	NOT SPECIFIED	•
lame	NOT SPECIFIED	Marker Depth	NOT SPECIFIED	•
Collar Height	START_HEIGHT	Lithology	NOT SPECIFIED	•
c	NOT SPECIFIED	Lithostratigraphy	NOT SPECIFIED	•
r	NOT SPECIFIED BORE_NAME LOG_NAME	Chronostratigraphy	NOT SPECIFIED	•
Description		Description	NOT SPECIFIED	-

9.5.3 View boreholes in map.



Hold shift key down, and mouse over borehole locations to preview any available log(s).



9.5.4 View borehole log

Right-click on a borehole object in the tree or in the map > *View In Log Window*. If the borehole has a geology log it will be displayed in the selected template, but if not you will be prompted to create a new one which can then be edited interactively.

9.6 GRID LAYERS

Elevation data is used to generate terrain profiles for cross-section drawing, and also to display reference layers such as a groundwater level. Elevation grids can be imported from ESRI grid files in their non-proprietary ASCII form.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Esri_grid

These files can be prepared using a GIS, for example using ESRI ArcToolbox *Raster to ASCII* function.

HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE				
Si Import Data				
Import raster grid data from an ESRI-format ASCII grid file.				
From Files				
From Files Ascii Grid (*.ASC)				
Ascii Grid (*.ASC)				
Ascii Grid (*.ASC) 1 Borehole Data				
Ascii Grid (*.ASC) 1 Borehole Data Images				

Choose the file that is required. Upon import, Groundhog will automatically converted the ASCII file into proprietary Groundhog binary format to enable more efficient querying. Please note this conversion may take a few moments. Imported grids appear in the tree under *Grid Coverages* and *Modelled Objects*.



If the grid data is a digital elevation or terrain model to be used for generating cross-section profiles you must set it as the *Model Cap*. This can be done via *Right-click > Set as 'Model Cap'* on the grid object in the tree, or by selecting it in the *Capping Layer* drop-down in the main Settings tab.

Grid Coverages			
tq57ne_ascii [2.0m]			
🖶 🌑 Web Map Se Set As 'Model Cap'			
🥭 Meshes			
Or			
Groundhog Desktop GSIS - DEFAULT workspace			
Session Interoperability Tools Geology Help			
HOME SETTINGS DRAW CALCULATE			
Profile Node Count: 100 🗸 Capping Layer:			
OS Open Data DTM SAMPLE.obgrid			
tq57ne_ascii			

The first time a cross-section is displayed, if it does not have a topographic profile, one will be auto-generated from the Model Cap layer. If no Model Cap layer is available you will be prompted to generate a fixed elevation topographic profile which can be edited to shape as desired.

в



Set the desired elevation, in this case 100m AOD (0 being sea-level).

Elevation	1	×
?	Absolute Elevation (metres)	
	OK Cancel	

Editing the topographic profile.



Any cross-section with existing terrain profiles that need replacing (for example if an updated topographic grid is made available) can also be updated manually by clicking on settings and update profile within the cross-section view.



9.7 DISPLAY A REFERENCE SURFACE WITHIN A CROSS-SECTION

A reference surface, such as a groundwater level, can be imported as an ASCII file, as described above. It will then be available to display within any section within its boundaries, by clicking on the *Grids* tab within the Cross-section window settings area. Check it on to display, and use *Right-Click* > *Settings* to set a colour for the line in the cross-section.



9.8 DRAW

Use Groundhog to draw geological cross-sections. You can construct a new cross-section from the welcome screen, or in a map window.

A cross-section constructed from the welcome screen will not be spatially referenced, but is a quick way to draw a cross-section where the map location is unimportant. Click the *Create a new cross-section object* link.



Enter a name



Specify the length (meters) of the new cross-section

Length o	f cross-section (m)	×
2	Length 1000 OK Cancel	

The blank cross-section will be displayed with a ground level at 0m which can be edited.

Section A ×				
Vertical Exaggeration 1.0 🔹 🐼 🕣 📏 🔊 SHAPE				
0				

To create a new cross-section in a map window, click *Create Cross-Section*. Enter a name. Single click in map to add points to the section, single click on boreholes to include them in the section.

m ×		
SHAPE	🔲 🚿 🔊 🖊	₽ Create Cross-Sectior
Data da		

Click *Finish Cross-Section* to complete the cross-section and to exit cross-section building mode.



Right-click on line of section in map > View Cross-Section. Section opens in new section window. DTM profile is loaded automatically (slight delay). Navigate as-per map (left button to pan, mouse wheel to zoom).



As can be seen above, some borehole start heights are either missing or incorrect. There are a few options here. Firstly, click on the *Borehole options* button in the settings tab:



Choose the appropriate option for your boreholes.

Borehole Options				
Borehole Width:	20			
Textures required?				
Borehole labels required?				
Show strat instead of lith?				
Collar height	Use collar heights from log data			
Transparency %	Use collar heights from log data			
D	Use profile elevation for missing collar heights Sw			
0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 8	Use profile elevation for all collar heights 0 90100			
Apply Cancel				

Alternatively, edit the borehole height from the object tree.



Borehole Collar		X
Name	WEST OF COUNTER WALL 2	
ID	909277	
x	557660.0	
Y	177030.0	
Start	0.7	<<< Set from Model Cap
	OK Cancel	

Edit borehole details.

9.9 DRAWING GEOLOGICAL LINES

You can draw geological lines in map and cross-section. First, decide what names these lines will have, for example layer/formation names or simple lithological names. Layer names are stored in the rock code library, and Groundhog ships with a pre-loaded list of basic lithological codes, but you can also add your own. BGS layer names are typically shortened codes, rather than full descriptive names. You can also set colours for the layers as Red/Green/Blue values in the range 0-255. Here are examples from the simple lithological scheme used in various examples within this manual.

Any drawing codes that you want to use which do not already exist in the rock code library can be added using the *Add Code* button in the *Codes* panel.

Start	X w	orkspace	
Rock	Codes		
Rock Code Library			
	Add Co	ode Add Colour Save Codes	
Sea	arch:	Recent	
	25	BOULDERS	
E		CHALK	

Add code dialog allows entry of code, description, and selection of a colour.

<u>ی</u>	X
Code PEAT-P	
Description PEAT - PEAT	
Colour [R G B] 102 51 0	Choose
Ok Cancel	

Digitizing tools and related settings are in the toolbar of cross-section and map windows.



By default, the active drawing code is a generic attribute of "SHAPE". So, before drawing geological linework, choose a rock code for drawing with by clicking on its entry in the *Codes* panel. This sets it as the active drawing code in all windows.



Choose a drawing tool button. Pen = left click and hold, drag to draw, release button to finish line. Digitizer = single click to add points, double-click to finish line.

Draw a line into a map or cross-section. When you have finished drawing the line, make sure to click the drawing tool button again to de-activate the drawing mode.

Section A ×	
Vertical Exaggeration 20.0 🛛 🚽 💽 🕣 🔊 🔊 PEAT	Undo Redo
Profile source: Digitized	
æ	
PEAT	
SAND	φ
	10
	Č,
Section 71	Sector 3
	ω
MUDSTONE	

In cross-section, lines can be snapped together to create a colour-flooded graphic. Single-click on line to make active, drag end nodes to edge of section and up to terrain profile to "snap". Section colours up.



9.10 SAVE PROJECT

Click save button and enter a file name. Groundhog projects have file extension .gop.



10 Appendix B – System Configuration

This appendix contains detailed information about certain system configuration options.

10.1 PROXY SETTINGS

Certain Groundhog functions may rely on an internet connection, for example to access web map services. However, local network configurations, such as those controlled by your organizations IT policy, can block this access. Often in these cases a proxy server is used as a go-between for security purposes. You can configure Groundhog to use your local network proxy server settings. Try this if you experience any problems accessing online data services from within Groundhog, such as web maps not appearing.

To set proxy settings for the duration of your Groundhog session, choose *Session > Proxy Settings*. Enter the proxy server configuration for your local network (ask your local IT administrator if you do not know what these settings should be for your network), or check *Use default system settings* for Groundhog to attempt to detect the settings automatically.

🙆 Proxy Settings 🛛 💽	
HOST	123.45.67.89
PORT	1234
Use default system settings	
OK Cancel	

To set proxy settings permanently currently requires a manual configuration within the software install directory (Usually C:\Program Files\BGS Groundhog Desktop\). Create a file in here named ProxySettings.txt with the settings specified in the following format (tabseparated, two lines).

PROXY_HOST 123.45.67.89 PROXY PORT 1234

After making any change to the proxy settings make sure to re-start Groundhog for the changes to take effect.